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Report of the Management Board

GENERAL
}E£ S8ALE ai A8CEA d+ aAECEOd dask Oo0s8o0o%nasi CHEUAERAEENC <1
d+ 8C fg+wWAE%+R +A fgD!' TRO T +A dak Oosowasi GASA adaDa:
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a/EALEST dEA ALl EAAEA d+ 8C dak fg+YELt @A+EaRG

6Cdswi aCaZA a0 g+-ddAAASA a0 dGAGO g=+¥AE%+ +0LEAC aoekE
§0A aAaesdAE aoe ECEBOMCE I FYENOR & & SVEREQOR D K gEd U /A% -E 0 DB d (
ngo8YAEA +1 aoesZCdnskod 1T EOAC a0 daLk UAJdaZEAI 80ACO OEg.

2Ed%a i £EY8i MAEodadaZsZCU6 DO Z%d+YUEASATAIQOEGALAREpPRPEEG:

g+ YELYL-dB8Cs80 avEOTZE §C AL AAAEA d+ 4o ! AdawhaE dOcEoO -
EegeqixudpRda §ohAaskOCE d+ 8§%d 8C nN808YAEA +1 s.Dpk 8C
d+ +O0&EA daA&k 6&AAhamMESOOSHI0 AUEOES fMi-adsois ACHsddR ged €V £A O

C BVA & AAGAEApamté dodide G g + Wu/EY+ U  SD:OBaFds/EA ~SHEYVQ&s }g£A d DA 3

t 68§ AL 9O 2-AMAN0Y% AN

In recognizing the breadth and deptheofJK market from a talent perspective, we made a strategic decision

to expand our capabilities in the region. Our investment in the UK resulted in relocating to a new office, more
than doubling our capacity in London, a MiFID Investment Firm licémséquareh of several new product

capabilities being managed from the UK. The combined effect gives us the ability to retain and attract the talent
which will support our strategic ambitions going forward. RIAM sold the business and assets bftds UK Branc

g+ YAE%Ls DOCdadEda=+o08i ! CCAd T8§O8YAERAODd sM OdAG6 tfgD!
100% subsidiary of Robeco Holding.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

g+ VaEY- HACEABOVIBEAXLaCdaoyY =1 § TsosVAEAAdID -+8§AA §o0A
.+AfnaddEE t7i6§g. +RUO aC a0 ai §wE d+ aAki a dak TEOSYAERA
a/EAT + ARITHAISAGE fASSOGE Y En Ao d +1 g+ YA%N++FAKEIALEA Gada dagE T
pak Y+e/EAOSOWRAE aAadonaal £C <1 g=+YAEY%+ 8§0A adC %+Aa+AS
kEaZA84aC+AG -+8AA gEiI £C +1 dA+%EAEAZAO T8OSYAEAEOdD - =+
AET £C =+1 aA=+ %/AEAEAK 3&Er/ndaada AMECA ANIGRSE -\ AFGA &-d+ 8Y gaCeé . +ff
Y gAEAEO AEAS dAas00A . d-aim aAE D -1 aA+ BEREAVYE &dd A&CD 6 § £%Ed
T§0 8§ Y ABoamEb d

pa/k T808YAEANAOD -+8AA 4aC g+w%uAkv%n+RC CAdSESdEd+AGOwW+8AA 80O
CaddaoyY g+w%uAkEsn+RC CAdASdAYGO =+ vé Avdaeé £C § GhAs e~asomA581 1 A
pak daAEE AEAWEAC <1 dak T8OS8YAEANAOd -+8AA SAE saa-é

-+8AAO 8sAeaCAEA G dsadm +\b+ A &-ONSAdaAd-dOEAD diEFCHO ANE %+ 0 CE]
g§aa+aodnEodO Gaawa a4aC CEwWé/E%Hd d+ daLk aAL€ERI §agaA*d 8§
?7xe8e3xAanUt80agBe NGID! dagE } -+ AeC . =AEMOWA i+ 1a Ai-MEia/MIBCC &di(
TS§OSYERAAOD - +8AAGS

1 Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities

2 2E/E d=+ g -iengoernarcstruttGre Supervisory Board membersrameexecutive members. The Supervidoayd is
comprised of five members.
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Ts§A%A dAaoC t2Edwad fAgi £0 dcecU GsC saa-aodEA §C
dpddsé calC aAZkea-EC AACa+-o0Caviai adaAskC aow EAAE . aaA
TSE8O8Y/ERAID §0A T§OMERDYO Qia AZBEENND d +AC DHH EAA- U ! TgZ6
6gFELEdaEE . ~ARaddELE

g+ %UE%B+RC ! Adawni £C +1 | CC+ %4 § dAGCds ¥0 AEh/E §da 86dy AVEM 4E &
w+oCaCdaoy +1 811 T8o8YAEAAODd -+8AA AAEAWUEAC 8§0A +0 K
da/E T8§OSYAENAOD -+8AA 40 %§AAGaoY <+Ed a&i@AsBEda&LEC s
i §08Y AN Eda -di+ YyEdlasEA Gada daL TSOSYEMAEOD - +8AAGS

k Z#0a+A 6§AFE»HEdaesEC S§ALE 8aa+aodAEAO AaCinaCCxsEA §80A CECa
daZLk .626 pak kEasAeaC+-AG - +8AAO 81 dAEA dgéaoyY 8AsawnE
CEwa 8aa+aodiAodO AaLaiaCLydn £ANnd CEIC akmaCa—A 66 pALEda e £C
daE ' ?2T0 WEWHSECE 6§ AELEdaAeE . ~fAfdaddAELE /AN LEAC SAE Y%+
pak 6§ AFALEdaceAE . +finaddAEE %+0CaCdC =1 Caqg nAEnwuAEAC §d
ailEC daZgZ I +i1+Gaoy aZAC=+0CO

Malick Badjie (British, male, 19843s appointed as Global Head of Sales and Marketing effantiaeyl

2024. His previous roles were Head of Institutional Sales for Europe, North America, and Africa at Robeco, and
partner at Silk Invest.

Ivo Frielink (Dutch, male, 19%@p appointed as Head of Strategic and Business Development of Robeco

effective March 2022. His previous roles were Regional Business Manager APAC at Robeco Hong Kong and

Head of Product Development & Market Intelligence at NN Investment Partners.

Mark van der Kroft (Dutch, male, 1964 appointed as Chief Investment Officer (ClO) Equities of Robeco

effective 1 September 2020 and became sole CIO in June 2023. His previous roles were Head of Trends and
Thematic investing at Robeco, Director Strategic Business Development at NNPartestspemd Head

of Government Bond Research at ABN AMRO.

Renske Paaver, Chief Human Resources Officer and advisor to the ExCo, left Robeco as of 1 September

2024 to pursue a new career opportunity. Simone van dekaké&es succeeded her as Chief Human

Resources Officer as of that date. However, she isember of the ExCo and has no voting rights at its

meetings so she is not considered a daily policymaker

6ew Cagxd¥% .icgxagag¥%¥% kC2 . iccxgag¥¥p

p aedy ALEd 4 ¢ A& s@eCidva & i £&Fd ££C Gada daZk 1 +ii1+Gaoy ALECa+o(

1 Product Approval Committee: approves new products and services
1 Enterprise Risk Management Committee: advises the ExCo about the general risks that Robeco faces

3 The AFM definagily policymakdss people that are statutory directors and people who formally do not have the position
of statutory director, but in practice are responsible for the daily management of the company.
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1 Sustainability and Impact Strategy Committee: oversees, coordinates and drives sustainability matters
from a companyide perspective

1 Pricing Committee: ensures that we provide attractive investment solutions and services to our clients at
appropriate prices while ensuring Robeco is sufficiently profitable, in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations

1 Customer Committee: assesses client relationships from an integrity risk perspective.
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SelfAssessment
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SeHAssessment

In accordance with the Supervisory Board Rules of Procedure, the Supervisory Board performas an annual self
assessment to monitor the ongoing suitability of its members. Additionally, every three years the Supervisory
Board is subject to an external assegsftihe last such assessment was in 2023). The results of these
assessments are discussed by the N&RC and Supervisory Board and, where ralpvactipfatl@ane

discussed with the CEO and Executive Committee.

Meetings
pa/k kEaZEA84aC+AG --+8AA TOAAGE I 8 & +ERE] AEABS d&8 AG£8 6
»g§iiC § AAEEJAOY +A +0/& <A A+AE =1 dak AnEIWUEAC +1 da
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dwuig8§ewueag 6, C38gxie
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4 Robeco has formulated ldagn gender targets for the Executive Committee in its DE&I roadmap
5> The sulop is defined as all staff in job levels 9 and 10 and as all members of the ExecutivevBorareittext
Management Board members
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STRATEGY

The group strategy is developed by Rélmdimg, based on our key strengths and the interests of all our
stakeholders. We have both financial and strategic ambitions for how Robeco can grow sustainably and ensure
we remain resilient in the face of future challenges.

We are mindful of the key lé@gn trends facing the asset management industry, which include the importance
+1 C%gi £O a4ao0%AESCAEA AALYEI §da+00 dAE%AO+T +Ya¥8I aA+VYA.
Meanwhile, a scarcity of talisnnaking it difficult to attract and retain skilled people.

Focus areas
We have identified four strategic focus areas through which we believe we can add value for our clients and other
stakeholders.

Clients and distributiome are strengthening our foothold in the markets in which we are already present and
expanding into new markets. This involves strengthening existing capabilities and broadening our offering of
researcibased innovative and sustainable investment soluticalso involves enhancing our delivery
mechanisms by, for example, establishing an active ETF platform.

Investments and produgisr goal is to deliver highality, researddriven, innovative investment strategies
§0A aA+AEwdC dasgd %§dAEA d+ +EA % a&k0dCR o0AEEACG6 ZEA
investing, quantitative investing, thematic investinifsaad emerging markets.

6 All members of the Supervisory Board are independent, with the exception of Stan Koyanagi, who is a represemamxmcurf ORIX Co
g-v%AE%+RC EidansdAE t ao0AaAEALdJU CasA&ka+i AEAG paEAE +AEO fDg =1 dak
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and are continually seeking ways to increase revenue while managing costs.

Colleagues and cultuvee aim to be an employer of choice, and to help us achieve this we emphasize diversity,
equity, inclusion, leadership development and a sustainability mindset. We are guided by our stiared values
being client centric, innovedj sustainale and conneatp.

Risks andpportunities

Successful execution of our strategy dependsrbwmiternal factors, such as financial, operational and
compliance risks, and external factors, such as market movements, client expectations and regulation. We have
a welldiversified book of business and are present in markets around the world. We betieweliw

positioned not only to face market challenges, but also to seize opportunities as they arise.

Robeco is increasingly involved in the field afemeguant investing, which takes traditional quantitative
investment strategies a step further by incorporating the use of alternative data and new techniques such as
machine learning and natural langupgocessing. In 2024 we launched our Dynamic Theme Machine equity
exchangé¢raded fund (ETF), which incorporategypaxjuant techniques in its investment process.

Assets in actively managed ETFs have increased rapidly in recent years due to their potential to outperform the
market while maintaining many of the benefits of passive ETFs, such as the ability to be traded throughout the
day and lower costs than tradélactive strategies. Given our expertise in both quantitative and fundamental
investments, we believe we are well placed to offer cliegislitgtactive ETFs, and are as such developing a

range of these vehicles. Our first launches came in G2dber 2

AtRobeco we pride ourselves on being at the forefront of sustainable investing, having been involved in this field
since 1995. Today, we integrate sustainability to varying degrees across our range of investment products. We
integrate financially materi®@& considerations in almost all of our products, and have developed a range of
investment strategies that aim to invest in companies that create positive impacts on the environment or society.
Active ownership is core to our approach as we seeknoeirdirapanies to improve their sustainability
practices.

We provide solutions for clients wherever they are on their sustainability journey, helping them find the right
balance between risk, return and sustainability. With our continued recognition as a leader in sustainable
investing, we believe we are welltipogd to capitalize on the growing demand for sustairatsfhited

investment strategies, especially within the more nascent sustainable investing markets.

Future plans

Our continued commercial success relies on our ability to make good decisions about where to allocate our
human, financial and intellectual capital. We need to balance these allocations to ensure the continued integrity
of all our processes while also mgegiire that we are well placed to face future challenges. An example of our
futureproofing activities is our continued investment in IT systems for ESG data. In 2024, we expanded our new
data platform to handle increased data volumes and make iteateaitednle people within our company.

Over the medium to long term, we will contmmgeeko improve our competitive position in a consolidating
asset management market by increasing our scale. Although we are still followin@@Rs 20giorate
strategy we are already developing our plans for 2026 and beyond.

SUSTAINABLE INVESTING

Sustainable investing strategy

Sustainability is a key element in our corporate strategy. To support our strategic ambitions in this area, in 2021
we launched our Sustainable Investing strategy2@P210ur ambition is to be the first port of call for clients

when they start their saiiable investing journey, and as part of our strategy we provide sustainable investing
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solutions for all clients. We have designed some of these solutions specifically to make a positive impact on
society or the environment.

ZEA kKkECdsaosw &£ DoeACdaoy CdAES§dAatSonavEmakadisheEdpicth 0 0 FA Vs
AphaeEOO GAE 8A+ad 8§ waa+oEEAAOY WEDd ®%EEdJda+ECR 8§aaA+§
informed investment decisions and betteadjakted returns.

Sustainability expertise, targets and goals

Every Robeco employee plays a role in our Sustainable Investing strategy. The strategy sets out our sustainability
ambitions, which are backed up by action plans. We have selofokingrdmpaebriented key performance

indicators (KPIs) to measurepifogress of both our business and each member of staff, and these KPIs form

an important part of our performance management cycle.

Our Sustainable Investing Center of Expertise is a focal point within the company for all our sustainable investing
activities. It delivers sustainable investing expertise and insights to our investment teams, clients and the broader
market. The center Hasir focus areas:

1 Active ownership

1 Thought leadership

9 Sustainable investing research

I Sustainable investing client portfolio management.

g+ wuE%+RC AEAawnsdAEA CECds8aosg¥w £ aoeACdaoyY %gagnadG a
there were 50 members in our Sustainable Investing Center of Expertise witn33aire@021. SI Center

Members work closely with the 200+ members of our investment teams who are responsible for integrating
sustainability in their investment strategies.

Do daDda3ao GAE T EAdaZsZA AEjasoAEA +EA kD zZasmkd ! wuECC 4ao
companies available on Bloomberg. Having developed these scores in 2017, we first made them available to
clients and academics in 2022 as part of SAOpess and in 2023 we made them freely available to anyone

+0 g+wuEnR+RC fgao GAwCA ES

We developed a new proprietary controversy score for our proprietary SDG Framework, which considers
“%+iagoaACR §%da+-oC T A+f dak aEACaAgkndae Lk =1 dak anas
We also continued to develop our sociasifisumeework and Biodiversity Traffic Light, which will complement

our SDG Framework.

We further developed our climate engagement program with the aim of helping foster the climate transition in
the broader economy and we also continued our involvement in the Climate Action 100+ group; Robeco is the
lead engagement manager for 12 investeganies.

Sustainable Invésg Solutions

Integrating sustainability in our investment processes

At Robeco, we consider financial materiality when integrating sustainability in the management of investment
portfolios, and consider financial materiality and impact materiality (double materiality) for some of our
investment portfolios. This involvesidering the impact of sustainability factors on the financial value of our

408 ACdAAOdC t el 4080 %4a8§i -ifgnbdEifv@dniedt de8iBidis alid; forasgeciic EC i !
strategies or client solutions, the positive or negative impacisvestments on the environment and society

t eafiasgl%d As§dAEAAS] &d GRdkig cinialy métrzs@ndedcBidiorailicphelPassessE § A A
impact materiality in our investment portfolios. Meanwhile, our stewardship activities airsetdthecrea

positive impacts the companies and governments we invest in make and reduce or mitigate any negative
impacts.
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Strategies with a range of approaches to sustainability

Providing clients with a full range of investment solutions that cater to their sustainable investing needs is a key
aaiig8A <1 g+wumE%n+RC kECds8aosgwi £ DoeALECdaoyY CdJdA8dAEYGH
achieve their financial aswktainability goals by providing superior investment returns and solutions.

We integrate sustainability to varying degrees across our investment products. We integrate financially material
ESG considerations in 98% of our investment strategies. We have also developed a broad range of investment
strategies whose impacts on therenrwient or society we consider.

We include a detailed description of the sustainability profile of each product in the prospectus of our investment
I EO0AC 80A +0 +EA GAWCAdAES ZEA TEOA T swdCaZskAlkdC aA+eéa
form of measures such as @arfootprint, ESG score and active engagements.

The impact of new fund naming regulation

In 2017 we introduced sustainable investing fund labels (Sustainability Inside, Sustainability Focused and
Towards Impact) to help our clients navigate our sustainable investing fund range as there was no standard
naming system in the market at the tirmeeShen, we have been reporting on these internally developed
categories.

However, there are now EU regulations setting out sustainability labels and categories that funds must abide by.
For example, the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) requires funds to be categorized according
to their sustainability credergtjand in 2024 the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) released
guidelines on the naming of funds, setting minimum requirements for funds whose names contain terms like
eCECdgaogw ARO owdAg§0Cada=+ o R Ohassgrdiva 1 inaduBe newAappmeche®@R 6 T /ES
to sustainability (such as our transition, 3D and engagement strategies) that do not fit with our existing
sustainable investing fund labels.

For these reasons, we stopped using Sustainability Inside, Sustainability Focused and Tlabatdsasmpact
of December 2024, and instead report based on the SFDR regulatory classifications.

The new ESMA fund naming regulesiore into effect for new funds from November 2024, and for existing
funds it will be effective from May 2025. In 2024 we analyzed its implications for our fund range. If our products
do not adhere to the minimum standards set by the regulator, we hept@tsoadapt their sustainability

profile to meet the minimum standards, or remove the sustairesiétyterms from the name of the product

in question. We will repsgparatelpn the impact on our fund namiggtem and investment stratedies

2025.

The SFDR requires asset managers and pension funds to classify their products according to three Articles of the

EU directive. Under this system, a strategy is classified under either Article 6, 8 or 9.

9 Article 6: Funds that have no sustainability focus.

1 Article 8: Funds that do not have a sustainable investment objective but do promote environmental or social
characteristics. To receive Article 8 classification the companies and/or countries the fund invests in must
follow good governance practices.

1 Article 9: Funds that have a sustainable investment objective.

?2+A Aswna i §CCail awnsgda+o0 Aaiil £AAF6d AEI £C s§aai G ao d,

characteristics as well as their levels of sustainable investments.

Growth in sustainable investment strategies and solutions

Our total client assets in #fs€yrated strategies grew by 18.9% in 2024, primarily driven by market
movements. As at the end of 2024, 98% of our assets integrated ESG considerations in their investment
processes. The remaining 2% invested almosy @ntiegivatives, for which it is too complex to integrate ESG.

As such, changes inour&9al £Y A8 d £A %i a&£0d 8§CCAJIC 1 8§AYA G AaAA+A d
assets.
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Stewardship

' wdae E G £ AEA%RaCaoY +EA CdAEGsEAACaaa AALECa-o0Cawal ada
investing. Stewardship involves using our influence and rights as an investor where we believe it is necessary to
do so. We use our ownership sighengage with the companies we invest in about sustainability risks, impacts

and opportunities, which in our view helps them prepare their business models for the future. We believe that
companies that adopt sustainable business practices couldonapetiive advantage and potentially be

more successful over the long term than companies that do not. On behalf of our clients, we use engagement

and voting to persuade companies to behave responsibly and grow sustainably.

The processes and guidelines that we follow are outlined in our Stewardship Agjumkgdimesdocument,

which we review and update every year to ensure it remains aligned with best practices. At the core of our
stewardship activities is our Active Ownership team, which has been responsible for all our engagement and
voting activities sia 2005.

pak §CCAIC EoAEA AEOYSEYENAOD §0A S§CCAIC EOAEA &+daoy
for which we conduct engagements and voting. Robeco also votes and engages for clients whose portfolios are
run by other asset managers; walcallEC £ e+ & AA31 Détenibér A04%) wie@4rIA.0 ovellay clients,
representing around EUR 650 billion in assets.

We believe that a constructive dialogue with the companies we invest in on behalf of our clients is the most
effective way to improve their corporate behavior. However, there are instances when taking further action,
which we refer to as escalation andncdude exclusion from our investment universe, is necessary. This may

be the case if a company fails to respond adequately to or makes limited progress in our enhanced engagements.

6e080wc%eg 8&, diagxeO
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Corporate sustainability commitments
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7 The most important codes are the International Corporate Governance Network (ICGN) statement on Global Governance
Principles, the United Nations Global Compact, the United Nations Shste@iapieent Goals, the United Nations

Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Responsible
Business Conduct for Institutional Investors.

8pak a+i awnG aC EaAsdEA 8§00ES8i 1 GO saaA-eZA wG daZk kDk. 8o0A
9 As set out in Principle 15 of the UN Rio Declaration on the Environment and Development.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS
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2024 2023 2022 2021

Assets under managemgmuM

(EUR x billion)

Beginning of the year 167.6 156.4 187.3 161.4

Inflows / (outflows) 6.7 (9.4) (3.7) 1.8

Market appreciation / (depreciation) 23.3 206 (27.2) 24.1

End of the year 197.6 167.6 156.4 187.3

Assets under advitAuA 8.1 7.0 10.1 8.8

(EUR x billion) End of the year

Financial results (EUR x million)

Operating income 483.3 450.2 473.2 510.5

Operating expenses -371.C -372.C -355.€ -356.€

Operating result 112.2 78.2 117.5 153.7

Nonoperating income/expenses 9.0 3.8 0.1 0.6

Result from associated companies ar

of business - 18.4 - -

Taxes -31.5 28.8 -29.6 -39.9

Net result for the year 89.8 71.6 88.0 113.2
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OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT AND FINANCIAL MARKETS OUTLOOK

Despite facing high interest rates, ongoing wars in Europe and the Middle East and considerable political
EoO%AEAJdE8EA0dGO 80A Gada § Taida <=1 dasgk G+AI ARC a+aEi §
by 3.2% in 2024, up from 2.8% in20cording to estimates by the Organization for Ecoropecafion

and Development (OECD).

Remarkably, efforts by central banks to get inflation back to 2% did not lead to a significant rise in
unemployment. However, the divergence in real economic activity among developed countries increased over
the year. The US economy once aggerformed others, growing by 2.88bove its lonterm trend level.

pak FEA-g-0ALE E%+0+H1GO0 wuG %+0dA8CdO %EALE %i =CAE d=+ 8§
region, contracted by 0.2% in 2024 against a backdrop of high enenggreasisgiexport competition and

a wary domestic consumer .

European consumers adopted a cautious stance over the year, increasing their excess savings, whereas the US
household savings rate fell further, resulting in another strong year for US consumption. The US economy also
AEY%E4 8 £A CE aa+ Ad expapsiofiary fiszafpolity-starEs, dvith Zdigtdri€ally large US budget
deficit.

The fortunes of services and manufacturing continued to diverge, with global manufacturing contracting,
whereas services expanded further. Unemployment among the 38 member countries of the OECD remained
historically low at 4.9% despite advances inariifielligence and monetary policy remaining tight. A
surprising increase in US unemployment to 4.2% in July, led to considerable volatility in the financial markets,
and proved to be a red herring.
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The impact of divergence in services and manufacturing showed up in inflation figures in 2024. Inflation fell over
dak GASAO asgAdi G §8C &8 AACEI d =<1 %++iaoY AEAS8OA T A=+
capacity and easing strains oplgughains. But while goods inflation was in negative territory, services inflation
remained elevated by historical standards throughout the year. As a result, consumer price inflation remained
above target in most G20 economies, with the notable exoce@tiima.

This meant that core inflation remained uncomfortably high, so developed market central banks adopted a
w8§Eda+EC §8aaA+8%a d+ %EddaoY A8dAC ao dak CAE%L+0A as
points (bps) move in September, butbeeemainder of the year it only made two more 25 bps cuts. Although

the ECB had more scope to cut rates as eurozone headline inflation temporarily dipped below 2% in the second
half of the year, services inflation proved stubborn, ending the yedr & 3% 0 RC %&A0dA81 wugoéo
raised its policy rate by 35 bps over the course of 20240.(P6n as it became more confident that the

country is putting its long period of deflation behind it.

.2408RC AE%+0+AGO a-GEeAAO Ca+GHEA n+Eodaoy CavoC =1
D6dg6 Taiia+oC =1 EoC+i A a+nAkC w%+0daoEALE d+ /E§AEAd A=
balance sheets, inhibiting domestic congumpgt YA+ Gdaé . a4ao08RC Y+e&EAOAAEOdd §A-
to stimulus for much of 2024, but in December it signaled a more determined stance consisting of moderately
loose monetary policy and a more proactive fiscal policy.

Outlook for equity markets

2024 proved to be another very strong year for risky assets thanks to ample liquidity, central banks starting to
cut rates and optimism about the impact of artificial intelligence. With the US at the heart of this technology, the
US market outperformedsuéting in concentration in global equity markets hitting new highs. The MSCI World
rose by 26.6% in euro terms over the year, with the US equity market responsible for the bulk of this performance.

Thes#281 i AA T 8§Yoal a%Add kAEAOR %+iagoaAskC Cdaii §%%+EO
even though they have fallen sharply in the first months of 2025. With the valuations of technology companies

still high, history suggests tbeyld have further downside potential: in the past, high starting valuation levels

have consistently signaled lower returns over the medium term and coincided with stedpeugtsak

during periods of market volatility. The release of DeepSeawseal@ligie language model that is viewed as

a cheap competitor to US Al models, has shown that US tech companies are now facing challengers from
elsewhere and need to innovate to stay ahead of the pack.

sk dAECaAEOd pAEfaRC 8§00+EowEMnAOd +1 dgAailT C <o a !
assumed references to tariffs by the Trump administration were only a negotiation tactic, the swift
implementation of 10% universal tariffs angroeeil tariffs have clearly shown this view was mistaken, leading

to plunging stock prices. Given these developments, the global economy, and the US economy in particular, face

a scenario of lower real activity combined with rising inflationary presatifisssaart to bite and trade war

unfolds. As a result it looks like it will become significantly more challenging for US companies to grow their
earnings in line with previous forecasts. Consequently, we now anticipate US earnings growtlowo be in the

single digits in 2025, with the risk of it being even lower.

Outlook for bond markets

Tenyear government bond yields in the US and Eurozone were up overall in 2024 despite falling sharply in the
runup to the 50 bps rate cut by the Federal Reserve in September. Their renewed rise over the remainder of the
year was largely related to thpemding change in US government, which prompted financial markets to scale
back their expectations of further rate cuts in the US. Credit spreads over government bonds tightened for most
of 2024, except between June and August.

US government bond yields fell in the first few months of 2025 due to concerns about economic growth, whereas
longterm European yields rose sharply on the back of European countries announcing major defense spending
initiatives and Germany also makirag eintention to make massive infrastructure investments.
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Volatility in the government bohdspecially US Treastingarkets increased early in the second quarter of

2025, primarily due to US tariffs leading to concerns about a potential economic downturn. In this environment,
the potential for shortdated goernment bond yields to rise appears limited as it looks like central banks may
cut rates further in the coming months. It also looks possible that yield curves could steepen further, both in the
Eurozone and the US, as a result of uncertainty aboth tferfkation and recent fiscal developments. Given

the current uncertain backdrop, government bond markets are likely to remain volatile.

On the credit side, the fundamentals of invesgrastgrated companies are generally still robust, with typical
measures of corporate health such as net leverage and interest coverage suggesting there should be little cause
for concern overall. Howewegedit spreads over government bonds have widened in the wake of the tariff
announcement in the US. In this environment we remain cautious, focusing on companies with stronger
fundamentals. From a regional perspective, we prefer European issue®in thetdSr

INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE

Of all the portfolios that Robeco managssbadvises, 63%outperformed their benchmark over the three

years to the end of 2024. The corresponding figure for the three years to the end of 2023 wakrég%. Forty

percent outperformed in 2024, compared with 57% in 2023. More detailed information on the paformanc

daZgk a+Adi +i a+¢C %80 wWAE | +E0A ao dak Cakgwnal av 1 E0ACR

In 2024, equity markets from developed and emerging ecansmiasvalueT hirtynine percent of our

equity portfolios outperformed their benchmarks over the year, compared with 55% int@@?3e feiémyt
outperformed over the three years to the end of 2024, down from 59% over the three years to the end of
2023.

Fixed income markets increased in value over the year. Fifty percent of our fixed income portfolios
outperformed their benchmarks in 2024, compared with 62% in 20230 Eigletycent of our fixed income
portfolios outperformed over the three yearetertti of 2024, the same proportion as over the three years
to the end of 2023.

The table below shows the returns of some of our funds in 2024. We show their returns in absolute terms and
their outperformance (+) or underperformaficerparedviththeir benchmaskWe also show the Sharpe

ratiod! of our conservative equity funds, which investinlfgility stocks, and their benchmarks as we

expect the returns of these funds to be less volatile than their benchmarks.

Absolute and relative returns of sétd@bbeco funds in 2024

Outperformance /

Fund Return
underperformance
Equities Robeco AsRacific Equities (EUR) 20.3% +3.5%
Robeco BP Global Premium Equities (EUR) 16.1% -10.5%
Robeco BP US Large Cap (USD) 17.0% +2.6%
Robeco BP US Premium Equities (USD) 10.0% -4.0%
Robeco BP US Selmportunities (USD) 10.7% -2.4%
Robeco Chinese Equities (EUR) 19.6% -6.5%
Robeco Emerging Markets Equities (EUR) 13.0% -1.6%
Robeco Emerging Stars Equities (EUR) 8.6% -6.1%
Robeco FinTech Equities (EUR) 31.7% +6.4%

10 All returns are gross of fees.

11 The Sharpe ratio is a measure edisisted return. It is calculated by takingrthealized return minus the annualized return of the
riskfree rate divided by the annualized volatility of the portfolio or index.

12 we select the largest fundipeestmenstrategy
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Outperformance /

Fund Return
underperformance
Robeco Global Consuifrends Equities (EUR) 20.4% -5.0%
Robeco Global SDG Engagement Equities (USD) 16.5% -4.5%
Robeco Indian Equities (EUR) 22.4% +3.8%
Robeco New World Financial Equities (EUR) 29.1% -3.5%
Robeco QI Emerging Conservative Equities (EUR) 16.6% +1.9% (Sharpe ratio 2.2 vs. 1
Robeco QI Emerging Markets Active Equities (EUR 21.4% +6.8%
Robeco QI European Conservative Equities (EUR) 9.5% +1.0% (Sharpe ratio 1.1 vs. 0
Robeco QI Global Developed Sust. Enhanced Inde: 28.9% +2.3%
Robeco QI Inst. Emerging Markets Enhanced Index 21.9% +7.2%
Robeco QI Inst. Global Dev. Conservative Equities 22.9% -3.7% (Sharpe ratio 2.1 vs. 2.
Robeco Smart Energy (EUR) 11.8% -14.8%
Robeco Smataterials (EUR) -0.5% -27.1%
Robeco Smart Mobility (EUR) 6.5% -20.1%
Robeco Sustainable Water (EUR) 13.2% -13.4%
Robeco Sustainable European Stars Equities (EUR 8.7% +0.2%
Robeco Sustainable Global Stars Equities Fund (El 30.2% +3.6%
Robeco Sustainable Property Equities (EUR) 5.6% -2.9%
Rolinco (EUR) 22.1% 3.2%
Fixed income Robeco All Strategy Euro Bonds (EUR) 1.7% 0.9%
Robeco Climate Global Credits (EUR) 1.6% 0.1%
Robeco Climate Global High Yield Bonds (EUR) 5.7% -2.0%
Robeco Euro Credit Bonds (EUR) 5.3% +0.5%
Robeco Euro Government Bonds (EUR) 1.7% 0.2%
Robeco Euro SDG Credits (EUR) 5.3% +0.6%
Robeco European High Yield Bonds (EUR) 6.6% 0.4%
Robeco Financial Institutions Bonds (EUR) 9.3% +0.7%
Robec@slobal Credits (EUR) 2.5% +0.5%
Robeco Global Green Bonds (EUR) 1.5% 0.7%
Robeco Global SDG Credits (EUR) 2.5% +0.6%
Robeco High Yield Bonds (EUR) 5.0% -1.5%
Robeco QI Dynamic High Yield (EUR) 6.6% 0.7%
Robeco QI Global Dynamic DurggidR) 0.7% +0.9%
Robeco QI Global MEHictor Credits (EUR) 1.8% 0.1%
Robeco SDG Credit Income (USD) 6.6% No official benchmark
Robeco SDG High Yield Bonds (EUR) 6.3% -1.0%
Robeco Sustainable Global Bonds (EUR) 0.0% -1.6%
MulttAsset Robeco ONE Neutraal (EUR) 14.0% No official benchmark

Annual Report Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 2024
18



EMPLOYEES
At Robeco, we foster an environment in which our employees feel empowered to be their best selves and achieve
the best possible results for our clients and company.

It is important for us that our employees are able to find the right balance between their working and private
lives, and we support them in achieving a harmonious balance. We have several policies in place to help us
achieve this goal.

Our leave policy and processes provide clear guidelines on the various types of leave, ensuring our employees
can take time off for personal, medical or family reasons. In addition to annual leave days, employees can take
maternity, paternity, parental asidk leave as appropriate. We ensure information about our leave policy is
readily accessible for all our employees on our HR platform. We adhere to all applicable labor laws and
regulations to ensure that our employment terms are fair and ethical.

A carefully considered, balanced and sustainable remuneration policy is vital to attract, retain and motivate well
qualified employees. We ensure that all employees receive adequate compensation that is in line with industry
standards, local market cowdisi and legal requirements, and perform yearly reviews of our compensation
structure to ensure it remains competitive and in line with changing market trends and employee expectations.

To ensure we foster an inclusive, supportive and sustainable work environment we perform regular assessments
of diversity, equity and inclusion, employee wellbeing, labor rights and employee engagement Our HR team
regularly assesses employee turnoveedignd conducts exit interviews to understand areas where we can
improveWe conduct an engagement survey to gather feedback on employee satisfaction, workplace conditions
and areas for improvememie also facilitate flexible working arrangements anideppoofessional
development opportunities in the form of learning and development programs.

Our workforce in figures

ZEA G:-Aél +A%E a40% EAEC o0+d +01 G +EA fDE aAEARSOAOd K
but also workers that veenploy temporarily, such as those on-tixed contracts, contingent workers and

interns. We worked with 114 contingent wofkassat 31 December 2024. Taking on contingent workers

enables us to flexibly scale our workforce, usually to covermhalbisences or temporary increases in

workload. The tasks they perform range from administrative to executive duties. WeaalsioteffesHip

opportunities to students who wish to gain experience in the asset management industry.

Diversity, equity and inclusion (DE&)

At Robeco we recognize the value of diversification as a key driver of the success of our investment strategies,
and the same applies to our workforce. We seek to foster a workplace in which all colleagues feel safe, included,
valued and empowered to beithvest selves, regardless of their gender, nationality, age, experience, ethnicity,
race, religion, disability, sexual orientation, social background or family responsibilities.

We have a DE&I Board in place that collaborates with our colleagues around the world, formulates our DE&I
strategy and oversees the coordination of the various DE&I initiatives taking place across Robeco. Our DE&I
Board consists of 12 colleagues frometiffdepartments and regions and is chaired by our Chief Operations
Officer. All our Employee Resource Groups (ERGS) are represented on the DE&I Board.

Our ERGs provide our employees with the opportunity to share their perspectives on issues such as resources,

support and education with each other. They also help us to advance our DE&I roadmap. The following four ERGs

are in place:

1  Gender Equality Alliance (GEA) aims to raise awareness of gender diversity, gender equality and
(unconscious) biases to empower women across the company at every stage of their career

1  Empowering Diversity, Growth and Equity (EDGE) fosters a diverse, inclusive and equitable workplace for
all cultures, backgrounds and ethnicities

13 Contingent workers are employees that are not directly employed by Roberodioyselpeople or agency workers
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1 PRISMA advocates for a work environment that respects, welcomes and supports straight and LGBTQ+
aA+1 £CCa+081 CO MEoswi aoY da&kn d+ nAEAEd daLkaA TEIIT a

1 RoNext is an initiative by young professionals (aged 35 or under) for young professionals at Robeco that
enables them to connect, share and learn from each other.

DE&I roadmap

Our DE&I roadmap sets out our plan for fostering diversity, equity and inclusion within our organization based
on clear objectives and actionable steps. We have designed the roadmap to evolve over time, with a clear
progression from foundational steps tdv@ngeterm initiatives making a sustained impact. In 2023, we
focused on laying the groundwork for a more inclusive culture by establishing key policies and programs, such
as developing olongterm DE&I goals and introducinBEe&| report thatontahed companwide DE&I

information In 2024 our focus shifted to creating habits, ensuring that DE&I principles become ingrained in our
daily operations and interactions. In 2025, we will aim for these efforts to become partodayrroatne.

By 2026, we intend to accelerate ouviions to achieve our laiegm DE&I goals, which we set out below.

DE&I metrics and report

In 2024 we published our first report on Diversity, Equity & Inclusion at Robeco and shared it with our employees
to ensure we are transparent about these maiterwill publish this report twice a year. It contains cempany

wide data on the gender, age and nationality breakdowns in our company and provides information on our
hiring, promotion and retention practices.

In February 2024 we also conducted our first inclusion survey, a voluntary survey that helps us identify areas for
improvement and measure our progress in terms of fostering a more inclusive workplace. Employees responded
to the Inclusion Survey anonynyowsid we worked with an external company to ensure confidentiality. This
information will help guide our efforts to create a more inclusive and supportive environment.

Gender diversity targets

Our longerm ambition is to achieve a3iDgendebalance at Robeco. We have established specific targets

for gender diversity at different levels of our company, aiming for:

1 Executive Committee: 30% gender diversity

1 Senior professionals: 30% gender diversity

1 Professional levels: 50% gender diversity

To improve the level of gender diversity at the senior professionals and ExCo levels, we are continuing the process
of transforming our succession and continuity management processes. Every year in our performance cycle, HR
monitors the gender pay gap #ma gender distribution of promotions. This enables HR and management to

take steps when needed.

In conjunction with the loteym ambitions we explain above, we have set gender diversity targets for 2025
based on Dutch corporate law which has applied to us since 2023. We explain these 2025 targets, including our
progress, in the section on Corp@aternance.

DE&I actions

Together with the DE&I Board and HR, we are developing a recruitment policy to ensure our recruitment process

is fair, consistent and transparent. The aim is to have this policy in place in the first hafe dia2@25.

introduced DE&I KPIs aiming to reduce the gender’dayndachieve a balance in the gender distribution of

promotions. In so doing, we want to ensure that qualified female talent has equitable access to career
progression. We are also developing a strategy to improve our retention of females, launcimggDE&I t
aoadasdaesC 80A AEF&adsi agaoyY +EA fAso0d+-ACaaa aA+YASAH
Do dDd3 GA 1 §EownaAA 8§00 A40dAAOE8T 26YD 8§wSAAEAG %§i i Al
training. We also organized several Connect & Learn sessions (we explain Connect & Learn in the section of
Learning and development below ) on-fiagéd topics. We communicated our DE&I strategy alangside

14 The gender pay gap refers to the average difference of earnings between men and women.
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leadership program because we believe that it is vital to create an environment of trust and support where
colleagues feel valued and included and can thrive. Managers are responsible for fostering this kind of
environment and leading by example.

Social safeguards

We have measures in place to help our employees in the event of sickness, employment injury or acquired
disability, parental leave or retirement. We have sick leave, paternity and maternity leave processes in place in
all countries in which we operatdine with local laws and regulations. We provide employment injury and
acquired disability benefit in all countries except Spain, where we provide our employees with a monthly benefits
allowance that can be used for this purpose. We offer a compredresisiveplan as part of our retirement

benefits package. Retirement benefit is not available in our Dubai or Spain offices. Our employees in Spain can
use their benefit allowance to pay into a pension scheme, while in Dubai it is not common praetidesfor com

d+ asG aod+- A£iai +GEECR aLkoCa+o ai gocCé

Upskilling our employees: learning and development

Employee development is an important part of our strategy. We encourage all employees to fully embrace the
opportunities for salevelopment we make available to them within the course of their work and/or through
learning and development programs amtidtines. We encourage managers and employees to discuss what

the focus of their development should be and the best way to put this into practice.

All our employees have a variety of learning and development opportunities available to them. These include in
person training and lectures, online courses and a mentoring program. Focusing on personal and professional
development, the opportunities wevige help our employees acquire valuable skills and knowledge.

Examples ofjperson training include our Young Professional Journey, Executive Performance Training, Every
28G Dnagwd 80A dAACAEOJEda+0 kéaii pAgsaoaoyY wm+EACKECS
lecturers and researchers share thewl&dge on topics that are relevant to Robeco. An example of online

courses available to our employees is those that form part of our Sustainable Investing Academy, our internal
sustainability training program.

g+ Y%EL+RC TEOD+A dA+YAS8A aski aC +EA A£Efai +GEEC d+ 1 A8
experience. We also make internal and external coaching available to our employees to help them develop their
skills, and all Robeco employees have regrfammnce management and career development reviews with

their manager.

! BYHLAZEMS diBES AEACAGE é+EAO0AEG d=+ Y /AEda KEAR isdéCprodide £ 0 § i /E
everyone in our company with imporgensonal and people leadership skill® aid employees in their
development, ant accelerate the execution of our corpetattegy throughout our entire organization, we

continued to run oukccelerate program in 202fter 175 managers underwent training in core people
leadership skills in 2023, this program was rolled out for the entire organization in 2024. In 2025 the key focus

of the Accelerate program is embedding leadership priorities and key leadershipteazilgptsactice to

drive strategy execution effectively.

Employee engagement

We seek employee engagement by fostering collaboration, promoting open communication and encouraging

| FEAWLS e +0 dak %+iag8oGRC aZAl +Afgo%AEs ' C agAd =1 d
overall engagement and satisfaction among oupysesl From 2025, we plan to conduct two employee
engagement surveys every year, providing us with more frequent insights into employee engagement and
improving our awareness of any emerging trends or concerns.

} £ EO%+EASYAE +EA f808YAEAC d+ AAaCwECC dasZk CEAe £AGRC A/
areas for improvement. Some managers discuss their action plans with the relevant member of our ExCo, which
has operational responsibility fopyee engagement. The engagement survey results are also discussed by

the ExCo, and where relevant translated into strategic action plans.

Annual Report Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 2024
21



Employee representation and workplace integrity

Employee representation at Robeco involves giving our employees a voicenakirgigimtesses. This can

be through our engagement survey, Works Councils or designated representatives. Robeco has Works Councils
in the Netherlands and Germany. Irr ddlsations, we encourage employees to share their opinions through
different channels, such as their country manager, members of our HR department and our engagement survey.

Departments within HR, such as Rewards, Learning & Development and HR Operations, regularly meet with
country managers to understand the needs of employees in their offices. HR Business Partners are the first port
of call for managers who wish to shangests or concerns in relation to working conditions.

REMUNERATION
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Control Function Staff

Control Function Staff are employees who work in our Compliance, Risk Management and Internal Audit

departments. The following rules apply to the fixed and variable remuneration of Control Function Staff.

1 The fixed remuneration is sufficient to guarantee that Robeco can attract qualified and experienced staff.

1 The KPIs of Control Function Staff are predominaspgcifie and ndmancial.

1 The financial KPIs are not based on the financial results of the part of the business that the employee covers
in their monitoring role.

1 The KPIs may not be based on the financial results of the business part they oversee in their monitoring role.

1 The rules above apply in addition to the rules that apply to Identified Staff if an employee is part of both the
Control Function Staff and Identified Staff.

1 The remuneration of the Head of Compliance, Head of Internal Audit and the Hefd ohRéskhe
direct supervision of tBapervisory Board, advised bitmination & Remuneration Committee.

Risk control measures

Robeco has set out clear risk control procedures to prevent and address reralatedatisks. These include

an assessment of possible risks, an annual remuneration policy review process, and shareholder approval of our
remuneration policy. We elalieran these aspects below.

Identified risks

Robeco has identified the following risks that must be taken into account in applying its remuneration policy:

t misconduct or a serious error of judgement on the parplofyees (such as taking-pemmitted risks,

violating compliance guidelines or exhibiting behavior that conflicts with our core values) in order to meet
business objectives or other objectives

a¥h+ 0 CaAEAS Y £ AEdEAG+ASdAEA+0 40 g+YUAE%+RC | 4080%asgi
aserious violation of the risk management system

evidence that fraudulent acts have been committed by employees

behavior that results in considerable losses.

(A e

The following risk control measures apply, all of which are monitored by the Supervisory Board.

16 There are two heads of Risk Managethetiead of Risk atige head of Investment Restrictions
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Clawbackfor all employees

Robeco may reclaim all or part of the variable remuneration paid to an employee if:

t  the payment was made on the basis of incorrect information

t it becomes clear that the employee committed fraud

t  they have engaged in serious improper behavior or demonstrated serious negligence in the performance of
their tasks

t  their behavior has resulted in considerable losses for the organization.

Expost malus for Identified Staff

Before paying any part of a deferred remuneration payment, Robeco may reduce the amount to be paid on the

following grounds.

t  Evidence of fundamental misconduct, errors or integrity issues by the staff member, such as a breach of the
Code of Conduct or other internal rules, especially related to risks.

t  If there is evidence the staff member caused a considerable deterioration in the financial performance of
Robeco or any fund we manage.

t ' Cavoal awnsod AE anakownG ao g=+%uA%+RC AacCe

fi§08Y AERn/
t kavoal awnsod %asoYAC a0 g+wuA%+RC T ao0s8o%nasgi Ca

dE§da -

Exante risk assessmeifor Identified Staff

Before granting variable remuneration to Identified Staff, Robeco may decide to reduce the variable
remuneration proposal, potentially to zero, in the event of collective or individual compliaetaent risk
issues.

Shareholder approval

The remuneration of the Management Board is determined by our shareholder, based on a proposal from the
Supervisory Board, which is advised by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Remuneration for
employees who earn more than EUR 750,000 per wéar are granted variable remuneration in excess of

200% of their fixed remuneration requires the approval of the Supervisory Board (advised by the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee) and our shareholder.

Annual review

Our remuneration processes are audited and reviewed each year internally. Any relevant changes made by
regulators are incorporated in our remuneration policies and guidelines. Every year, an extepsaident

party reviews our remuneration policy to ensure it is fully compliant with all relevant regulations. There are no
differences between the retirement benefit schemes and the contribution rates for the highest governance body
members, senior exeves and all other employees.

Remuneration figures

Supervisory Board members receive fees for their service on the Supervisory Board. All fees are paid out fully in
cash. No variable remuneration is provided, ensuring the Supervisory Board members act impatrtially. Supervisory
Board members are not eligtbleeceive any benefits in relation to their position on the Supervisory Board.

The remuneration of current and former statutory directors is:

Variable
FTE * Headcount * Fixed remuneration* remuneration** Total remuneration
in EURillion in EUR million in EUR million

Current and formel

statutory directors 3 3 2.0 2.7 4.7
Identified staff 57 56 12.7 9.3 22.0

Other employees 739 717 73.6 21.9 95.5

Total 799 776 88.3 33.9 122.2

* Situation as at 31 December 2024 ** Based on awarded amounts
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Governance of risk management

At Robeco, risk management is based on the principles of sound management, as set out in the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code and the principles of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations Enterprise Risk Management.
We therefore manage risks according to what is currently considered to be best practice.

g+v%AEL+RC AaCé Y+&EAO8OY%AE CIJAEWIEALE 4aC WwWSCEA +0 § p:
responsibilities of key players in our risk governance structure. It also enables them to interact and effectively
align, collaborate and be accohlgavhen helping the company achieve its objectives within our defined risk
appetite. All Robeco employees have a role in risk governance, with risk management and compliance
responsibilities.

The three lines of the Three Lines Model are as follows.

1 The first line consists of the primary risk owners who identify, assess and manage risks-ttatheir day
work within our company.

1 The second line is our Compliance and Risk Management departments, which develop and maintain the risk
policies and frameworks that enable the first line to manage risk. These departments also monitor and
report to the Enterprise Risk Management Comonittee risk and compliance activities of the first and
second lines and on relevant developments.

1 Our Internal Audit function is the third line. It performs various independent audits and reviews of our risk
management procedures.

A crosfunctional committee structure is in place, with the following five Exdbmsttees:

Enterprise Risk Management Committee (ERMC)

The ERMC is the most senior body within Robdoouteg on risk. It consists of members of the ExCo and

relevant departments. The ERMC is chaired by the Chief Financial and Risk Officer (CFRO) and is responsible for
evaluating and approving company policies relating to risk management and compliBR3C Tdiso
§CCAECCAEC GammkdaskA dask AaCeC dasgd g+wuAEsn+RC §wndaeéadaxLC
these levels, the ERMC has the power to remedy the situation. The ERMC is supported by a dedicated risk
management committde control the financial risks associated with our client portfolios and by committees

and sukcommittees that focus on issues such as valuation, security, outsourcing and crisis management.

Sustainability and Impact Strategy Committee (SISC)

TheSISC oversees, coordinates and drives sustainability matters across Robeco. Sustainable investing is one of
dak e&£G aaii s8AC a0 g+wumE»n+RC CAdASJAYGS6 paZk afai /EfAod:E
teams in Rotterdam, Hong KongzZurith. Consistent integration of sustainability in our investment processes

requires close collaboration with our Active Ownership and Sustainable Investing Research team. The SISC also
ensures that sustainability is incorporated in our sales andngasketiegic product management, risk

management and IT and data processes.

Product Approval Committee (PAC)

Our PAC is ultimately responsible for approving new products, changes (including liquidations) to our products,
seed capital requests, product re\aedsother topics included in our Product Quality Procedure. The PAC
ensures that products are launched, maintairgidcontinued in the best interest of our clients and that they

adhere to RobeRocorporate values. Each member of the PAC is responsible for representing their area of
expertise (Product Management & Development, Operations, ComplidleaaB&kent, Investments, S

. EOdEA <1 6gasEAdaCAE 80A k8§i £ZCU 80A 1T +A AE&8I ESdaOY a,
goals.

Pricing Committee

The Pricing Committee ensures that we provide attractive investment solutions and services at prices appropriate

to our clients, while ensuring our business is sufficiently profitable and complies with applicable laws and
regulations. It also verifiesveheEA a EACE&aoyY o0&G +A snAo0AEA wWECaoECC aA
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focus in terms of clients, investment strategies and services provided to clients. Another role of the Pricing
Committee is to ensure fees are consistent for similar business proposals.

Customer Committee

The Customer Committee is responsible for assessing the acceptability of customer relationships from an integrity
risk perspective. It provides a safeguard against the risk of accepting or continuing relationships with customers
that do not fit withinRottse- RC a0 d £AYA4dG AaCé saakdadE +A AZEaAALECHEOHJ
financial institution. The Committee is mandated by the ExCo to ensure there is an explicit, coordinated and well
documented risk review of customers, especiady plkoceived to involve high risk to our integrity or
reputation. Within the context of applicable laws and regulations, the Committee ultimately decides whether to
accept or reject each client.

In addition to the five ExCo-suinmittees, there is one supervisory boafmbsuhittee that complements
our risk management governance.

Supervisory Boarudit & Risk Committee
di £8CE AE FA d+ dak @ +Aa+ASdE @+6/FEAO80Y%AR CAE%dA-+
responsibilities and the Report of the Supervisory Board for a description of its activities in 2024.

Management review

OY+aoyY A+o0ad+AaoyY =1 AacCé nsosvYAEnAZod S§0A a0dAEAOET Y
framework and provides insight into the key risks affecting Robeco. The relevant members of the ERMC discuss
these risks with the ExCo. In additisk,NRanagement submits and discusses reports regularly to the ExCo,

Audit & Risk Committee and Supervisory Board.

It is important to note that well designed and implemented internal risk management and control systems
significantly reduce, but cannot eliminate, the risks associated with poor judgment, human error, control
processes being deliberately circumventedgeraent overriding controls, or unforeseen circumstances.

Based on the monitoring of our risk management, internal control systems and an awareness of their inherent
limitations, we conclude that Robeco has sufficient insight into the extent to which its objectives will be realized
and the reliability of its im@l and external financial reporting.

Risk appetite

Our Risk appetite serves as a guiding principle ensuring that the level of risk we take on is consistent with our
predefined expectations and goals. At Robeco we define risk appetite at two levels: corporate risk appetite, which
covers our own operatiomslgortfolio risk appetite, which is specific to each portfolio that we manage.

Risk and control

Robeco has eomprehensive control framework (the Robeco Control FramB@6idkthat enables us to

maintain control of our operations and helps ensure we comply with laws and regulations. The RCF consists of
several components that enable us to identify, assé$s; dont§ 0 A A+o0ad+A CavYoal a¥%g§od A
plays a central role in the RCF as it provides/blgluidance to helpdetermine the significance of risks and

define appropriate controls. We assess the RCF on an ongoing basis tovileteanihe controls we have

put in place are adequate to mitigate risks and whether the controls are operating effectively.

}E AEYSAA dask AaCée wsdAEY+AaAC wAE =G 8§8C dak n+Cd AE
to pursue its strategy and business activities and to maintain a sound financial position.

Strategic risks

Strategic risks can be external or internal. External circumstances such as macroeconomic developments or
increasing pressure on fees and competition may negatively affect our profitability. Continuous monitoring of
these issues and diversification inst&itlients, asset classes and products can help mitigate their impact.

Annual Report Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 2024
28



Inability to meet our sustainability commitments, underperformance of our products or dependence on a limited
number of key products could all represent internal strategic risks. We address these risks through our formal
review, our approval procedurenaw products and business initiatives and by maintainingieevsified

product range. Our Strategy 20025 ensures that Robeco is focused on our key strengths, and that our wider
product range remains relevant and available in all markets thatateeinp

Operational risks

Operational risks include failure to process or execute transactions and IT problems; risks relating to information
security; data management; thdaty, model and fraud issues; and legal matters. We define operational risk

as the risk of loss resultirgn the inadequacy or failure of internal processes, people or systems, or from
external events. Robeco provides a broad range of services and products for different types of clients in various
parts of the world. The nature of our business means wenisid@rable exposure to the operational risks we

discuss above. As such, we perform periodic Risk & Control Self Assessments (RCSASs) to identify and mitigate
operational risks. Controls identified during RCSAs are periodically tested and monitogethéo ensu
effectiveness.

cgeaoyY § CdA+0Y AZkaEdg§da+o 1T +A a0dAEYA4AadG aC w%BAE®AaSI

us. Fraud can undermine such confidence and trust. Therefore, we have established an approach to mitigate the

risk of fraud, including aasoto reduce our exposure to fraud risk and assessments of the effectiveness of our

internal controls to reduce fraud risk. We have twkraAmtiOfficers (AFOs), one from our Operational Risk

Management department focusing on external fraud and thieasth€ompliance focusing on internal fraud.

These AFOs are the first point of contact for any potential instances of fraud risk and ensure that such risks are

dealt with in a timely and efficient manner. The AFOs have the following tasks:

1 to perform gap analysis to identify controls missing from;the RCF

9 to align with IT Security on thefaatid measures that we have implemented and consider ways to further
improve fraud detectipn

1 to ensure that internal and external fraud incidents are properly followed up.

The risk of fraud exists within each department in Robeco. We have implemented measures to mitigate this risk,
such as segregation of the duties of portfolio managers, traders and our middleffioe statk Although

there is always a risk of intéfreaud resulting from employees overriding or bypassing our internal controls, we
consider this risk to be limited due to the way we segregate assets: no assets our products invest in can be stolen
as they are held by custodians that only act uponiorsrtiat follow agreed processes and authorizations.

Compliance and integrity risks

Robeco has a code of conduct that forms the basis of our Compliance Framework. This code describes the
standards of behavior that Robeco expects of its employees. All employees must sign the code when they join
the company; by signing the code they cdmatt in accordance with it. All employees annually confirm that

they will continue to adhere to the code of conduct.

The number of regulations and supervisory body mpmlicesing the asset management indddigs

increased since the global financial crisis. Dealing with the uncertainty associated with new regulations is
demanding, as their interpretation and the timeframes in which they are to be implemented are often unclear.
Part of the operational risk we exposed to therefore stems from the regulatory environment. To manage this

risk, Robeco is actively involved in the process of developing regulation, both directly and through representative
associations such as the European Fund and Asset Manageoi@iiAéEFAMA) and the Dutch Fund and

Asset Management Association (DUFAS). We monitor and assess the potential impact of planned regulations at
an early stage, and relevant departments initiate and/or monitor the subsequent implementation of new or
amended laws and regulations. Robeco performs a Systematic Integrity Risk Assesgar@di¢SIRA)

assess our level of control over integrityasisksgrity risk events may lead to financial loss, financial
misstatements and / or reputational damBRgéeco wants to ensure that it operates in a controll@ddvay

7 For example, the Financial Markets Amendment Act 2016 (Wijzigingswet financiéle markten 2016), UCITS V, MAR, SFDR,
EMIRandMiFID ILI.
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that it is demonstrably in control of the integrity risks it is exp&stbtming the SIRA is also a legal
requirement.

Financial risk

Robeco is exposed to counterparty credit risk in respect of its cash balances and receivables. Default risk involves
the risk that a counterparty will not honor its obligations to Robeco. To mitigate this risk, we have put in place a
counterparty risk pofi that is maintained by our Risk Management function. Its guiding principle is that
counterparty risk should be mitigated wherever possible through the selection of counterparties (banks or other
financial institutions) with high creditworthiness (bassttict rating criteria) and by limiting exposure to

individual counterparties through diversification.

Market risk is the risk of the market prices of financial instruments falling, resulting in financial loss to the
company. Robeco has limited direct market risk exposure, with the exposure that we do have resulting from
fluctuations in foreign currencyesaaffecting our financial positions and cash flows (primarily related to
receivables and payables, revenue to be received and expenses to be paid), and from interest rate risk affecting
our current account balances. Interest rate risk is very love givert thuration of these positions, and foreign
currencies are directly converted into euros to mitigate foreign exch&uipecdkalsoexposed tmarket

riskdueto the investments in its seeding portfolio.

Indirect market risk is more important than strategic risk as our fee income is linked to our total client assets,
which fluctuate in line with the financial markets. Declines in financial markets lead to lower income from
management fees, which can reducrofitability. The measures we take to mitigate this risk include offering

a broad, welliversified range of products and services covering various regions, currencies and asset classes,
and maintaining a sound capital position.

Liquidity risk is the risk of Robeco being unable to honortiesrehaistigations due to a lack of liquidity. To
mitigate liquidity risk, cash positions are closely monitored by our Finance department and reported to the ERMC
on a periodic basis.

We hold capital twoverall ofthe business riskge describe in this section. For counterparty and operational

risks, the capital is calculated based on regulatory requirements. The capital requirement dad business
strategida Cé aC wsCAEA +0 §0 a4ao0dAEAO0ST A+AAE dasgd | +%ECAEC
while considering extreme market scenarios and flow assumptions.

The potential effect of climate transition risk on our profitability is assessed by using four different climate
transition risk scenarios. The results are compared to our capital requirement and may lead to it being increased
if the expected impact isiegthan the risk capital requirement.

Sustainability risk management

At Robeco we manage sustainability risk both in our investment portfolios and at the corporate level. Below
weexplain how we manage sustainability risk at the portfolio level and how our findings at the portfolio level
are also relevant for sustainabiliy at the corporate level.

Sustainability risk in investment portfolios

Sustainability factors (such as environmental, social and erefdtseenatters, respect for human rights,

and anticorruption and adbiribery issues) may have a positive or negative impact on the financial performance
of our investments. For risk ngamaent purposes, we focus on the downside potential these factors involve.

Our sustainability risk policy sets out sustainability risk limits and controls for our portfolios, and how we should

react in the event that a risk limit is breached. It is-piltaregpproach that sets out minimum requirements

to handle sustainabylitisk. The pillars are as follows.

1 The first pillar lays down minimum requirements for all funds by applying exclusion lists of companies and
governments based on their activities and behavior.

Annual Report Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 2024
30



1 The second pillar specifies how sustainability is promoted within products and sets out limits for
sustainability criteria such as ESG ratings, greenhouse gas emissions, minimum allocations to sustainable
investments and contributions to the SDGs.

1 The third pillar involves our Risk Management department evaluating all our products according to
different dimensions sxistainability, including climate risk scenarios. This process aims to raise
awareness of sustainability risks, promote a deeper understanding of them and encourage discussion
between stakeholders to whom the Risk Management department communichibes it€liimate risk
analysis includes an evaluation of the impact of the climate transition and the physical risks and
opportunities linked to climate change.

We revievthe sustainable riglolicy every year to ensure it adheres to the latest standards and practices,
including the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation, Task Forcaeat€tifratancial Disclosures and
Task Force on Nattetated Financial Disclosures .

Sustainability risks at the corporate level

The way we assess the sustainability risks our investment portfolios are exposed to differs from how we
determine the sustainability risks that Robeco as a corporate entity is exposed to. The risk profile of Robeco as
an entity is based on the revenuedgfe8 d £FA daA+EvYa da&L&CAE ao0&AECdAEdd a=+AdI
the fees that we receive in relation to our client assets. Based on the composition of our client assets, our Risk
Management department models the revenues that should be genanrgad ifihe contribution all our client

assets make to our revenues is referred to as the Margin Portfolio. It enables Risk Management to perform risk
analysis, including sustainability risk analysis.

In assessing corporate sustainability risk, Risk Management focuses on climate transition risk. Risk Management
assesses the carbon sensitivity of our revenues and the potential impact of various climate risk scenarios on these
revenues. The results of timalysis are communicated to the ERMC every quarter.

Carbon sensitivity of our revenues

Risk Management assesses the carbon sensitivity of our revenues by estimating the carbon footprint of the
underlyingclient assetsThis enables us to assess the biggest contributors to the carbon footprint of our
revenues. Risk Management reports which sectors and which investment capabilities contribute most to our
indirect carbon footprint to the ERMC. The assessments crea¢ssaafaoeit our carbon sensitivities. If a
vulnerability that may require action is identified, the ERMC can decide loo.to resp

Impact of climate risk scenarios on our revenues

Our Risk Management department also assesses the potential impact of climate risk on our revenues by running
several climate risk analyses on the Margin Portfolio. Doing so provides insight into the extent to which our
revenues could fall due to climatle, mssuming that the holdings making uplieat assetst that point in

time remain unchanged over the time horizon of the scenarios.

Climate risk scenario analysis forms part of our risk budgeting process. As part of our Capital Adequacy
Assessment process and internal Risk Assessmefi, Robess performs a seifessment of the climate

risk our company is exposed to. This involves considering both our revenuasstntb aletermine the

potential effect of climate risk on our profitability. We compare the potential impact of climate risk scenarios on
+EA %§8§aadgi AFAEaAMEAAODd d+ AOCEAALE dasd g+wuE%H+RC 1 40§
rik manifests itself over time.

Risk Management considers a broad set of climate risk scenarios, most of whickdravéaripog. In our
risk budgeting process we use a subset of scenarios withaa bogzon. For this reason we only consider
transition risks. Physical riskd@ngetterm in nature and as such do not match our budgeting horizon.

18 An ICARAP annual process to determine the minimum amount of risk capital to be held. This is a regulatory requirement and we
communicate our findings to the Dutch Central Bank.
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Corporate sustainability risk figures

To help us understand the risks and opportunities arising from climate change in greater depth, we acquire and
generate climateslated data. Our analysts take this data and convert it into scores, footprint reports, impact
reports and insights that aregrated across our range of products and services. Any determination of the net
impact of the sustainability risks faced by a company should consider the opportunities that may be involved
(climate transition risk, for example, can lead to opportimktelstd resource efficiency¢éomission energy

and the development of new products and services).

Climate risk scenarios

.1ansdAE AacCeée 1 +-AnC asg8Ad =1 <+EA 8CCaACChAAOd =1 g + YValEY:
§081 GgAC dakE a+-CCawi £ anagwnd =1 wi angdE AacCeée +0 g+
compared with our minimum amount of requiredatalsi this analysis we use four climate transition risk

scenarios based on guidance from the Dutch Central Bank (DNB).

The four scenarios describe shocks at the macroeconomic and mesoeconomic levels. These shocks, which have

aoneGESA dank a+Aag+00 S§AL dAs8OCIi §dAEA aod+ anagwndlC =

industry. They are therefore suitable fossisgeour capital adequacy, which uses the same time horizon. The

four scenarios are as follows.

1 Confidence shock: Companies and households postpone investment and consumption due to uncertainty
about policy measures and technology. This scenario only leads to a shock to equity prices.

1 Policy shock: Carbon prices rise by USD 100 per ton due to additional policy measures.

1 Technology shock: The proportion of renewable energy in the energy mix doubles due to a technological
breakthrough.

1 Double shock: Carbon prices rise by USD 100 per ton due to additional policy measures, and the
proportion of renewable energy in the energy mix doubles due to a technological breakthrough.

}ada 8§80 A£CdansdEA AAEAE%da+0 & éhoekBognakpdidEe RGES/EIGHA F 6 9 ¢g C
Delayed Disorderly scenario have the largest projected negative impact on our revenues. Based on our
calculations, Robeco would remain a profiabipany in all scenarios .

Carbon sensitivity

The carbon footprints of our investments are the key determinant of tHearisitete risk our portfolios are
Fga+CHEA d+6 DO YAEOAASI O dak aaYarZA § %+iag8oGRC %§AVY
climateneutral and the higher#h %+ CdC aoée+i1 &&ZA6 } &£ 81 C+ 8§CCECC dask «
carbon footprint$of the companies we invest in. The greater the exposure to assets with high carbon footprints,

the greater the risk to our company.

We perform two carbon footprint assessments: one using Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions, the other using
Scopes 1, 2 and°3Scope 1 and 2 emissions are directly within the control of companies and will face taxation
and costs when transitioning. Scope 3 is more indirect and there can be disputes among companies upstream
and downstream in the value chain about who is refpémsémissions. This means that companies with a

high Scope 3 carbon footprint face additional risks on their journey to becomingutliahate

Sustainability risk: An evolving field

assessing the riskisked to sustainability is an evolving field. There is more and more data, expertise and
technology becoming available to help us identify, measure and mitigate sustainability risks. The interpretation
and understanding of sustainability risks and bépaffact investment portfolios are also developing over time.

We therefore regularly review and, where necessary, adjust how we integrate sustainability risk management in
our processes to ensure that our practices remain up to date.

19 Carbon footprint for scopes 1, 2 & 3 are provided by Trucost
20 The assessments observerigian carbon footprint using the GICS classification system
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In recent years we have developed an extensive sustainability risk framework and enhanced our toolkit to

analyze, understand and report on sustainability risks. We intend to improve our sustainability risk management

processes in the coming years by:

1 oollaborating with key stakeholders across Robeco to continuously assess its decarbonization strategy and
net zero targets, keeping pace with industry and government initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas

emissions
9 further strengthening our risk control framework and associated processes, including reporting and
iEda+A+i +YGO 8C agAd =1 dak %-hnagoGRC wWA+-8AEA AacCée

1 using reliable data to refine our approach to risk appetite determination, incorporating quantitative
elements and developing key risk indicators at both portfolio and enterprise levels

1 exploring the integration of critical themes such as biodiversity and social issues into our sustainability risk
policy in measurable terms, leveraging data from scientific research and academia

1 assessing opportunities to enhance our climate risk scenarios by incagditativa climate risk
indicators, helping to identify potential winners and losers across industries in varigus scenarios

1 aligning with the requirements of the Taskforce onNaé&desl Financial Disclosures by exploring nature
loss scenarios and evaluating their potential integration into climate risk assessments.

CORPORATE OUTLOOK

On the one hand our diversified book of business, both in terms of our investment and distribution capabilities,
reduces the volatility of our profits. But omtther, as an asset manager, our exposure to general market
developments inevitably remains high.

g + Y. EY:+=yRal outlookApredicts another complex year for the global economy with mixed signals and

AREI dal §%AEdAA AGosnawnCO aavail avadao Ydriven Worlda Fhéské i G 1 < i
market developments will continue to affect RR@coa A£A T + A fil§ 2025A8e éxpect DD te@Bues

and profits to grow, although general market movements in the first part of any year have a relatively large
impact on annual profits.

In 2024 we started to reap the first rewards of our new global sales strategy, which we implemented in 2023.
We expect this positive momentum to continue in 2025. But investor sentiment, especially in the wholesale
segment, is likely to influence our $alie short term.

As ever, we remain dedicated to strengthening our range of {EsEatctinnovative and sustainable
investment solutions. We will also continue to invest in staff, technology and research. In 2025 our Accelerate
leadership program will focus on embeduinghree leadership priorities and the supporting key concepts in

our daily working lives. In support of our Digital Foundation Program we will continue to focus on our data
platform, ensuring that Robeco data is easily accessible to appropriatesarsead will continue to explore

new ways to use Al to improve our existing processes and develop new capabilities, and we will look to directly
exchange data with our clients through our data platform.

2025 marks the end of our current 20Q25 corporate strategy. In 2024 we began drafting our new corporate
strategy. It will build on the current strategy, but will takeearlfierspective, with the path towards our goals
mapped out in shorter thrgaar plans, enabling us to adapt to developments as they occur. In 2025 we will
communicate our first thrgear plan as part of our corporate strategy update. We expect the updated strategy
to further enhance our financial resilience.

Rotterdam24 April 2025
The Management Board
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Report of the Supervisory Board

In 2024, the Supervisory Board met 11 times. The Audit & Risk Committee met six times and the Nomination &
Remuneration Committee five times. All regular plenary Supervisomnyestiagd were attended by all

Supervisory Board members, except one. All active members of the Executive Committee (ExCo) and other guests
attended the regular Supervisory Board meetings during the year. The Supervisory Board also met in closed
sessions, astly without any of the ExCo members present.

At the meetings of the Supervisory Board and those of its committees, due consideration was given to
ArFe £l ~anEZo0dC a0 daLk 1 a4a080%asgi nsAeAEdCO aZEAl +ARSORAE
changes in rules and regulations, the SsmervBoard adheres to regulatory control and ensures due
consideration of regulatory developments. In that context, the Supervisory Board and the Audit & Risk
.+AfnaddAEE AAYEI 8§8A1 G ALE%Eae £AA EaAsgdAC -+nmanagemdnt A /£& a £G -
and internal control framework. The interests of clients are considered to be a key issue and, consequently, an
important focus.

lo+daZkA CEYé FLd dasgd %-da&ZC Ea +0 § AALYEIi §8A wsCacC ao
developments and the strategic challenges for Robeco. International political developments are also discussed.

In terms of human resourceg Bupervisory Board acknowledges the importance of recruiting, training,
developing and retaining talent as a key element in successfully running an asset management company. That
means providing professionals with appropriate opportunities while puesaingeration policy in line with

market standards and complying with applicable laws and regulations. Developments in human resources and
succession planning for key senior executives are therefore also monitored and discussed regularly in Supervisory
Baard meetings.

pa/k kEaEA&aC+AG -res@its\vlith tAeAERCoDICtOe/MBASIs of-pétidaie fepods. It focused on
whether budgetary targets were being met, investment returns, changes in total client assets as a result of
igAeEd fA-eEAAOIC S§0A o0A&d 0A&G i+ 0o AlsoVeralkpdolitabilityl & £ %+ h a§
also dealt with risk management, compllance and legal and operatlonal matters. The Supervisory Board was
AAYEI §A1 G EaASdAA +0 80A aoeée+i&/FA ao g+%uA%n+RC CdASd
of RobedeC CdAS§dEYGEH

Recommendation to adopt annual financial statements

The Supervisory Board has taken note of the contents of the annual financial statements and of the report
presented by KPMGijchissued an independent auditor's report on the 2024 annual financial statements. We
recommend approval of the annual financial statements by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and we
»n+0%EA Gada daA& T§ otgpasutAdididendth® sharBholdesof EBERS nilifon

which consists 0DR T2B2@ net result. This proposal will be submitted to thel eneral Meeting of
Shareholders.

Rotterdam24 April 2025
The Supervisory Board
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Financial Statements 2024
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Income statement
for the year ended 31 December

EUR x million Notes 2024 2023
Revenues 1 772.5 743.6
Distribution and subadvisory costs 2 -289.2 -293.4
Net income from fees 483.3 450.2
Operating income 483.3 450.2
Administrative expenses 3 287.2 287.7
Employee benefits expenses 4 21.7 24.7
Depreciation and amortization 5 2.1 2.5
Other expenses 6 60.0 57.1
Total operating expenses 371.0 372.0
Operating result 112.3 78.2
Interest income 7 7.2 4.9
Interest expense 7 -0.2 -0.3
Other net finance income/(expense) 7 2.0 -0.8
Result on sale of business 12 0.0 18.4
Result before tax 121.3 100.4
Income tax expense 8 31.5 28.8
Result for the year 89.8 71.6
Attributable to:

Owner of the parent company 89.8 71.6
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December

EUR x million

Notes

2024

2023

Result for the year

Other comprehensive income

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods

Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods

18

89.8

71.6

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

89.8

71.6

Attributable to:

Owner of the parent company

89.8

71.6
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Statement of financial position
at 31 December before profit appropriation

EUR illi
UR x million Notes 2024 2023 2022
restated restated
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 9,10 3.6 5.7 4.8
Intangible assets n 0.1 0.6 1.8
Deferred tax assets 14 3.4 4.6 5.2
Non-current assets 71 10.9 1.8
Trade and other receivables 15 102.9 94.3 88.0
Current tax receivables 14 0.2 0.7 41
Other financial assets 13 158.0 80.0 80.0
Balances due from related parties 13 3.9 15.4 10.2
Cash and cash equivalents 17 90.0 17.5 140.3
Current assets 355.0 307.9 322.6
Total assets 362.1 318.8 334.4
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Issued capital 0.1 0.1 0.1
Share premium 31.5 31.5 31.5
Other reserves 0.3 0.7 1.0
Retained earnings 108.7 108.3 108.0
Unappropriated result financial year 89.8 71.6 88.0
Total shareholder’s equity 18 230.4 212.2 228.6
Provisions 19 1.6 1.6 1.6
Employee benefits 20 0.8 2.2 2.7
Lease liabilities non-current 10 2.5 4.4 3.1
Non-current liabilities 4.9 8.2 7.4
Payables to related parties 21 61.0 36.3 32.0
Lease liabilities current 10 0.8 0.8 1.0
Current tax liabilities 14 2.1 2.4 1.3
Trade and other payables 22 62.9 58.9 64.1
Current liabilities 126.8 98.4 98.4
Total liabilities 131.7 106.6 105.8
Total equity and liabilities 362.1 318.8 334.4

Annual Report Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 2024

38



Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December

EUR x million Issued Share Other Retained Un- Total

capital premium  revaluation earnings appropriated

reserve result

At 1January 2024 0.1 31.5 0.7 108.3 7.6 212.2
Result for the year - - - - 89.8 89.8
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive
income - - - - 89.8 89.8
Dividends -71.6 -71.6
Addition to reserves - -
Release Luxembourg Net
Wealth Tax - - -0.4 0.4 - -
At 31 December 2024 0.1 31.5 0.3 108.7 89.8 230.4
EUR x million Issued Share Other Retained Un- Total

capital premium  revaluation earnings appropriated

reserve result

At 1January 2023 0.1 31.5 1.0 108.0 88.0 228.6
Result for the year - - - - 71.6 71.6
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive
income - - - - 71.6 71.6
Dividends -88.0 -88.0
Addition to reserves - -
Release Luxembourg Net
Wealth Tax - - -0.3 03 - -
At 31 December 2023 0.1 31.5 0.7 108.3 71.6 212.2
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December

EUR x million Notes 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities 31

Result before tax 121.3 100.4

Adjustments to result before tax:

Depreciation and amortization 2.1 2.5

Other movements from operations - -18.4

Lease liabilities -0.2 -0.1
123.2 84.4

Other movements from operations:

Change in trade and other receivables 12.3 1.5

Change in liabilities 48.5 1.5
159.4 .4

Interest received -0.2

Interest paid 0.0

Income tax paid -30.8 -23.6

Net cash flows from operating activities 128.4 47.8

Cash flows from investing activities 32

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2.4 -0.2

Proceeds from sale of business - 18.4

Net cash flows from investing activities 2.4 18.2

Cash flows from financing activities 33

Repayment of loans -0.7 -0.8

Loans granted -78.0

Dividends paid -71.6 -88.0

Business transfer Robeco UK Branch -3.2

Net cash flows used in financing activities -153.5 -88.8

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -27.5 -22.8

Cash and cash equivalents at 1January 17.5 140.3

Effect of movements in exchange rate on cash held 0.0 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December* 17 90.0 17.5

* Cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Company'’s cash management.
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Notes to the financial statements

Corporate information

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. (also referred to as ‘the Company’ or RIAM) is established in the
Netherlands, having its legal seat at Weena 850, 3014 DA Rotterdam, the Netherlands. The main activities of
the Company are reqular investment management activities on behalf of clients, including management of
investment funds. The Company receives management fees and other fees for these activities. Offering
alternative investments can also be considered as a main activity of the Company. The Company also offered
investment products to retail clients directly up to 30 June 2023 (refer to note 12). The product range
encompasses equity and fixed-income investments. Revenues relate mainly to funds which are legally located in
the Netherlands Luxembourg and Ireland.

All shares of the Company are held by Robeco Holding B.V. The domestic ultimate parent of the Company is ORIX
Corporation Europe N.V. (also referred to as OCE) established in the Netherlands which is wholly owned by ORIX
Corporation (ORIX) (also referred to as ORIX), with registered office in Tokyo, Japan.

The Company, has both an AIFMD license as referred to in article 2:65 of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act
(‘Wft’) and a license to act as manager of UCITS as referred to in article 2:69b of the Wft. RIAM is moreover
authorized to manage individual assets and give advice with respect to financial instruments. RIAM is subject to
supervision by the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets (the ‘AFM’).

In these financial statements, the items Balances due from related parties and Payables to related parties refer
to those subsidiaries of ORIX Corporation Europe N.V. that have transactions with the Company.

The financial statements of RIAM for the year ended 31 December 2024 relate to RIAM and its branches. The
Company'’s financial information is included in the consolidated financial statements of Robeco Holding B.V.
RIAM sold the business and assets of its UK Branch to Robeco Institutional Asset Management UK Ltd. (RIAM UK)
on 10ctober 2024 at book value.

First time of adoption of IFRS

These financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2024, are the first RIAM has prepared in accordance
with IFRS. For periods up to and including the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company prepared its financial
statements in accordance with Part 9 Book 2 of Dutch Civil Code.

Accordingly, the Company has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable as at
31 December 2024, together with the comparative period data for the year ended 31 December 2023, as
described in the summary of material accounting policies. In preparing the financial statements, the Company's
opening statement of financial position was prepared as at 1January 2023, the Company’s date of transition to
IFRS.

Exemptions applied

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters exemptions from the retrospective application of certain requirements under
IFRS. The Company has applied the following exemptions:

A The Company has not applied IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates retrospectively to fair
value adjustments that occurred before the date of transition to IFRS. Such fair value adjustments are
treated as assets and liabilities of the parent rather than as assets and liabilities of the acquiree. Therefore,
those assets and liabilities are already expressed in the functional currency of the parent or are non-
monetary foreign currency items and no further translation differences occur.
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Reconciliation of total comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023

IFRS for the ye

EUR x million Dutch Re ended

Notes GAAF classification 31 December 202
Revenues 743.6 - 743.6
Distribution and subadvisory costs -293.4 - -293.4
Net income from fees 450.2 - 450.2
Other income 18.4 -18.4 -
Operating income 468.6 -18.4 450.2
Administrative expenses 287.7 - 287.7
Employee benefits expense 24.7 - 24.7
Depreciation and amortization 2.5 - 2.5
Other expenses 57.9 -0.8 57.1
Total operating expenses 372.8 -0.8 372.0
Operating result 95.8 -17.6 78.2
Interest income 4.9 - 4.9
Interest expense -0.3 - -0.3
Other net finance income / (expense) - -0.8 -0.8
Result on sale of business - 18.4 18.4
Result before tax 100.4 - 100.4
Income tax expense 28.8 - 28.8
Result for the year 71.6 - 71.6
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Reconciliation of equity at 1January 2023 (date of transition to IFRS)

Reclassificatior IFRS

Dutch and 1January
EUR x million Notes GAAF remeasurement 2023
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment - 4.8 4.8
Tangible assets 0.7 -0.7
Right-of-use assets 4.1 -4.1 -
Intangible assets 1.8 1.8
Deferred tax assets 5.2 5.2
Non-current assets 1.8 - 1.8
Trade and other receivables 59.5 28.5 88.0
Accrued fees 26.7 -26.7
Current tax receivables 1.9 2.2 41
Balances due from related parties 92.4 -82.2 10.2
Other financial assets - 80.0 80.0
Other receivables 1.8 1.8 -
Cash and cash equivalents 140.3 140.3
Current assets 322.6 - 322.6
Total assets 334.4 - 334.4
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Issued capital 0.1 - 0.1
Share premium 315 31.5
Other reserves 1.0 - 1.0
Retained earnings 108.0 108.0
Unappropriated result financial year 88.0 88.0
Total shareholder’s equity 228.6 - 228.6
Provisions 1.6 - 1.6
Employee benefits 2.7 2.7
Lease liabilities non-current 3.1 3.1
Non-current liabilities 7.4 - 7.4
Payables to related parties 32.0 32.0
Lease liabilities current 1.0 1.0
Current tax liabilities 3.6 2.4 13
Distribution costs and subadvisory costs liabilities 37.5 -37.5
Employee benefits 10.5 -10.5 -
Trade and other payables 13.8 50.4 64.1
Current liabilities 98.4 - 98.4
Total liabilities 105.8 - 105.8
Total equity and liabilities 334.4 - 334.4
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Reconciliation of equity at 31 December 2023

IFRS
Reclassificatior 31
Dutch and December

EUR x million Notes GAAF remeasurement 2023
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment - 5.7 5.7
Tangible assets 0.6 -0.6
Right-of-use assets 5.1 -5.1 -
Intangible assets 0.6 - 0.6
Deferred tax assets 4.6 - 4.6
Non-current assets 10.9 0 10.9
Trade and other receivables 59.3 35.0 94.3
Accrued fees 32.8 -32.8 -
Current tax receivables 0.7 - 0.7
Balances due from related parties 95.4 -80.0 15.4
Other financial assets - 80.0 80.0
Other receivables 2.2 2.2 -
Cash and cash equivalents 17.5 - 17.5
Current assets 307.9 - 307.9
Total assets 318.8 - 318.8
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Issued capital 0.1 - 0.1
Share premium 315 - 31.5
Other reserves 0.7 - 0.7
Retained earnings 108.3 - 108.3
Unappropriated result financial year 71.6 - 71.6
Total shareholder’s equity 212.2 - 212.2
Provisions 1.6 - 1.6
Employee benefits 2.2 - 2.2
Lease liabilities non-current 4.4 - 4.4
Non-current liabilities 8.2 - 8.2
Payables to related parties 32.8 - 32.8
Lease liabilities current 0.8 - 0.8
Current tax liabilities 4.5 2.1 2.4
Distribution costs and subadvisory costs liabilities 34.3 -34.3
Employee benefits 9.8 9.8 -
Trade and other payables 16.2 46.2 62.4
Current liabilities 98.4 - 98.4
Total liabilities 106.6 - 106.6
Total equity and liabilities 318.8 - 318.8
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Material accounting policies

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of RIAM have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU), hereafter IFRS-EU, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board, and with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code.

The financial statements were prepared by the Management Board and approved by the Supervisory Board on
24 April 2025 and will be submitted for adoption by the Shareholder meeting on 29 April 2025.

For all periods up to and including the year ended 31 December 2023, RIAM prepared its financial statements in
accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 are the first the Company has prepared in accordance with IFRS-EU.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in euros, the Company’s functional and reporting currency. Unless stated
otherwise, all amounts are presented in millions of euros, rounded to the nearest tenth of a million. The totals
may not always match the sum of the individual values due to rounding.

The accounting policies applied for measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of results are based
on the historical cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the further accounting principles.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Standards issued but not yet effective

Future IFRS developments

In addition to the applied IFRS standards and interpretations in these financial statements a number of IFRS
standards and interpretations are new or have been amended and apply to financial statements for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2025. We have not applied the standards outlined below in the 2024 financial
statements. Unless stated otherwise, standards will be applied as soon as they become effective and have been
endorsed by the EU.

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments clarify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how a company estimates
a spot rate when a currency lacks exchangeability. A currency is exchangeable into another currency when a
company is able to exchange that currency for the other currency at the measurement date and for a specified
purpose. When a currency is not exchangeable, a company needs to estimate a spot rate. The objective when
estimating a spot rate is only that it reflects the rate at which an orderly exchange transaction would take place
at the measurement date between market participants under prevailing economic conditions. New disclosures
are required to help users assess the impact of using an estimated exchange rate on the financial statements.
These disclosures might include the nature and financial impacts of the currency not being exchangeable, the
spot rate used, the estimation process and risks to the company because the currency is not exchangeable.

The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1January 2025, earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the results or equity of the Company.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11
The IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 relate to:
A IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
0 hedge accounting by a first time adopter
A IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
0 Gainor loss on derecognition
o0 Disclosure of deferred difference between the fair value and the transaction price
] 0 Disclosures on credit risk
A IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
0 derecognition of lease liabilities
0 Transaction price
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A IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
0 determination of a ‘de facto agent’
A IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
0 cost method
The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1January 2026; earlier application is
permitted.

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)
The amendments clarify that a financial liability is derecognized on the ‘settlement date’ and introduce an
accounting policy choice to derecognize financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system before
the settlement date. Other clarifications include the classification of financial assets with ESG linked features via
additional guidance on the assessment of contingent features. Clarifications have been made to non-recourse
loans and contractually linked instruments. Additional disclosures are introduced for financial instruments with
contingent features and equity instruments classified at fair value through OCI.

The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1January 2026, earlier application is
permitted with an option to early adopt the amendments for contingent features only. The amendments are not
expected to have a material impact on the results or equity of the Company.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

This new standard replaces IAS 1 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, with the aim is to improve
comparability and transparency of communication in the financial statements. It introduces new requirements
on presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. It also requires
disclosure of management-defined performance measures and includes new requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of financial information based on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements and
the notes. In addition, there are consequential amendments to other accounting standards.

The standard together with the amendments to the other standards, applies for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1January 2027, earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply
retrospectively. Entities that prepare condensed interim financial statements in accordance with 1AS 34 in the
first year of adoption of IFRS 18 must present the headings and mandatory subtotals it expects to use in its annual
financial statements.

IFRS 18 will have impact on the presentation of the interim and annual financial statements of the Company.
Also the presented comparative periods in the Income Statement need to be restated and reconciled with the
statements previously published.

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure requirements while still applying the
recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRS accounting standards. The application
of the standard is optional for eligible entities. An entity applying IFRS 19 is required to disclose this in its general
IFRS accounting standards compliance statement.

The standard applies for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, earlier application is
permitted. In the first year of applying this standard an entity is required to disclose comparative information.
The standard is not expected to have an impact on the results or equity of the Company.

Material accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of judgment and estimates. This affects the recognition
and valuation of assets, provisions and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities as of the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, the actual results
may ultimately differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are consistent with the
Company'’s risk management and climate-relate commitments where appropriate. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that taxable profits will be realized in the near future
against which these temporary differences can be offset. Estimates are used when determining future taxable
profits, since these are subject to uncertainty. Temporary differences mainly relate to carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses in full.
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Leases

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined the
Company'’s incremental borrowing rate. This is the rate that the Company would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and
conditions.

Extension and termination options are included in several lease agreements across the Company. These terms
are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. Most of the extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by the Company and not by the respective lessor.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended
(or not terminated). Extension options in office leases have not been included in the lease liability, because the
Company can replace the assets without significant cost or business disruption.

Provisions

Provisions recorded for possible loss of income are measured at nominal value of the expenditure that is
expected to be necessary in order to settle the obligation. The timing of the cash outflow related to these
provisions is uncertain.

Summary of material accounting policies

Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in euros, which is the functional and presentation currency of the
Company. Each branch of the Company determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured in that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates at the date
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euros
at the exchange rates at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated into euros at the exchange rate at the dates of the initial recognition of the
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in
profit and loss and presented within Other net finance income and expense.

Foreign operations
The results and financial position of all branches that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position are translated at the exchange rates at the
reporting date;

- income and expenses included in the income statement are translated at average exchange rates for
the period. The Company decided to elect the practical expedient in IAS 21.40 to use, for practical
reasons, a rate that approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and

- all resulting exchange rate differences are recognized in the currency translation reserve within other
comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
to the income statement.

Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification. An asset is classified as current when:

- itis expected to be realized, or be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
- itis hold primarily for the purpose of trading;
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- itis expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period; or
- itis cash or a cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.
All other assets are classified as nonZurrent.

A liability is classified as current when:
- itis expected to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle;
- itis hold primarily for the purpose of trading;
- itis due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or
- there is no right at the end of the reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.
All other liabilities are classified as nonZurrent.

Revenues

Revenues include management fees, service fees, subadvisory fees, performance fees, fees from clients,
revenues from marketing and sales activities and other fees. Revenues from the providing of services, such as
those corresponding to management or maintenance contracts are recognized as the performance obligation is
satisfied through the transfer of the committed services, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial
flow arises.

Performance obligations

Performance obligations related to asset management services are satisfied over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the asset manager as the asset manager
performs the service. The Company has a right to consideration from the customer in an amount that
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date. Therefore,
the Company recognizes revenue in the amount to which the Company has a right to invoice.

Payment is generally due within 30 days after invoicing. No obligations for returns are present.

Management and service fees are primarily based on predetermined percentages of the market values of the
assets under management and are affected by changes in assets under management, including investment
performance, net subscriptions or redemptions and changes in exchange rates.

Management fees and other fees are considered to be a series of distinct services, as these services are
substantially the same, have the same pattern of transfer, are satisfied over a period of time and use the same
method to measure progress toward satisfaction of the performance obligation. That is, a time-based measure
of progress as the customer can benefit from each increment (e.qg. daily) of service on its own.

Performance fees are calculated as a percentage of the predefined excess performance of the relevant assets
under management and recorded when earned and it is not probable that the fee amount has to be reversed.
Fees from clients, revenues from marketing and sales activities and other fees are recognized in the period in
which the services are provided.

Performance fees based on a fund’s or mandate’s performance, relative to a benchmark or the realized
appreciation of a fund’s investments is a variable consideration. These performance fees are highly susceptible
to market volatility until they are realized or are no longer subject to claw-back, which may be after the end of
the reporting period. Under a claw back provision, an asset manager may be required to return certain
distributions received from the fund if a specific performance threshold is not met. Performance fees are not
recognized as revenue until it is probable that a reversal of the cumulative amount of revenue recognized will
not occur upon the resolution of the uncertainty.

The Company is entitled to receive a share of the realized profits of certain Private Equity Investee Funds (carried
interest). Carried interest is calculated based on a share of profits taking into account the cash already distributed
by the Investee Funds and the amount of divestment proceeds receivable or to be received upon disposal as
estimated by the Company. Proceeds are distributed by the Investee Funds in such a manner that the Company
will not receive a distribution of carried interest before the Partners of the Investee Fund have received their
Contributed Capital and an agreed upon return on their investments.

Since only the carried interest amounts received in cash are to be regarded as reasonably assured, carried interest
is recognized as revenue in the income statement as from the actual distribution by the Investee Funds. The paid
out carried interest amounts are to be regarded as advances on the final amount calculated upon liquidation of
the Investee Funds, since they are subject to claw back until a point in time toward the end of life of the Investee
Funds.
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Revenues from the rendering of services, such as those corresponding to management contracts are recognized
as the performance obligation is satisfied through the transfer of the committed services, regardless of when the
resulting monetary or financial flow arises.

The Company decided to elect the practical expedient not to disclose the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations provided in IFRS 15.121, as the investment management services are invoiced
in line with the value creation towards the customer (which is in accordance with paragraph B16).

Distribution and subadvisory costs

Distribution and subadvisory costs include trailer fees and subadvisory costs payable to third- and related parties.
Trailer fees and subadvisory costs are recognized when the services have been provided and can be reliably
measured. Trailer fees are primarily based on predetermined percentages of the market values of the average
assets under management of the investments, including investment performance and net subscriptions or
redemptions. Subadvisory costs are paid to third party asset managers. These costs are mainly based on
predetermined percentages of the market values of the average assets under management of the investments.

Other income and expenses

Other income is recognized when the performance obligation to the client has been satisfied either at a point in
time or over a period of time. Other expenses are recognized when the services are provided to the Company.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits are charged to the income statement in the period in which the employee services are
provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation
can be estimated reliably. If the amount already paid exceeds the benefits owed, the excess is recognized as a
current asset to the extent that there will be a reimbursement by the employees or a reduction in future
payments by the Company.

Relating to the deferred variable remuneration of employees the projected costs are taken into account during
the employment e.qg. service period. The following main assumptions are taken into consideration for the costs
accrued:
- The service period is split into 75% (current year) and 8,33% for the next three years (deferred part).
- The value of the deferred variable remuneration — predominantly ‘Robeco Cash Appreciation Rights’
(R-CARs) —is based on a rolling eight-quarter period of Robeco’s operational result.

Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of the employment. These
areincluded in Employee benefits expense and are recognized as an expense at the earlier of when the Company
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Company recognizes costs for restructuring. If
the termination is part of a restructuring, the costs of the termination benefits are part of the restructuring
provision. See the policy under the heading ‘Provisions’.

Termination benefits are measured in accordance with their nature. When the termination benefit is an
enhancement to post-employment benefits, measurement is done according to the same policies as applied to
post-employment plans. Other termination benefits are measured at the best estimate of the expenditures
required to settle the liability.

Benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are discounted.

Dutch pension scheme

Robeco Nederland B.V., a fully owned subsidiary of Robeco Holding, is legally the employer of personnel. Robeco
Nederland B.V. has a pension scheme for its employees with Stichting Pensioenfonds Robeco, a Company
pension fund.

The pension plan for employees of Robeco Nederland B.V. is a defined contribution pension plan. The funding
has been based on a CDC arrangement (Collective Defined Contribution). The premium is fixed for a certain
period of time. In 2022 a fixed premium was agreed, as well as for 2023 and 2024. This contribution is based
on a conditional average-salary pension plan (middelloonregeling) in line with prevailing tax and pension
legislation. Pension accrual in a conditional average-salary pension plan has been capped at 1.738% per annum
of average pensionable earnings up to a certain salary amount (EUR 87,302). Pension accrual is not guaranteed.
Above this salary amount the employer makes an individual contribution available (DC) dependent on individual
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salary and age. The premiums payable in respect of employees’ pension entitlements are paid to Stichting
Pensioenfonds Robeco.

The provisions of the Dutch Pension Act (‘Pensioenwet’) are applicable for the Dutch pension scheme. Premiums
are paid for the Company and are based on (legal) requirements, a contractual or voluntary basis to its pension
fund.

Foreign pension plans

Pension plans in place at foreign operations that are comparable in design and functioning to the Dutch pension
system, having a strict segregation of the responsibilities of the parties involved and risk sharing between the
said parties (the Company, the pension fund and its members) are recognized and measured in accordance with
Dutch pension plans.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss based on the effective interest rate. The 'effective
interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortized cost of the financial liability.
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortized cost of the liability. However, for financial
assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Other net finance income and expense

Foreign currency translation differences are generally recognized in profit and loss and presented under Other
net finance income and expense.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates
to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Tax on operating profit is recognized in the statement of income in accordance with applicable tax law in the
jurisdictions in which RIAM operates. Tax effects of any losses incurred in certain jurisdictions are recognized as
assets when it is probable that sufficient future profits will be available in the relevant jurisdiction against which
these losses can be offset, see also paragraph Tax assets and liabilities.

RIAM is part of a fiscal unity for Dutch corporate income tax purposes headed by ORIX Corporation Europe N.V.
within the meaning of the Dutch Corporate Income Tax Act 1969. The Group consists of ORIX Corporation Europe
N.V., OCE Nederland B.V., Transtrend B.V., Robeco Holding B.V., Robeco Nederland B.V., Robeco Institutional
Asset Management B.V. and Robeco Indices B.V. All these entities are jointly and severally responsible for the
resulting tax liability. Some foreign offices of the Company are considered to be permanent establishments.
Except Robeco Dubai, all offices are subject to corporate income tax in the country they operate and file their
own corporate income tax returns.

The calculation of corporate income tax is made as if the Company is an independent taxpayer. Payable
corporate income taxes have been settled, through Robeco Holding BV, with ORIX Corporation Europe N.V. The
taxes are calculated on the basis of the applicable rate for tax, taking into account tax-exempt profit constituents
and deductible items. The tax rates and laws used to compute taxable amounts are those enacted or
substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Pillar Two top-up income tax

The Company operates in countries that have enacted new legislation to implement the global minimum top-up
tax. The Company has low-taxed operations in the United Arab Emirates via its Dubai branch which consists of a
team that is active in and responsible for the sales activities of the Company in the Middle East region. The
Company however does not expect to be subject to the top-up tax in relation to its low-taxed operations in the
United Arab Emirates. Japan, the country of residence of the Ultimate Parent Entity, is one of the countries that
has enacted the legislation to implement the global minimum top-up tax and the United Arab Emirates have not
done so. As a result, any top-up tax resulting from the operations in Dubai is to be levied by the Ultimate Parent
Entity of the Company, being ORIX Corporation in Japan.
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Tax assets and liabilities

Tax assets and liabilities are stated at nominal value. The tax rates and laws used to compute taxable amounts
are those enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. A deferred tax liability is
also recognized in respect of the fair value measurement of other intangible assets and for double tax relief in
respect of recapturing tax losses within the Company.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rates prevailing on the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset if they relate to the same tax authority, concern the same type of tax, if it is permitted under
law to offset these deferrals and if the deferrals are expected to be settled simultaneously. Deferred tax assets
are recognized only if it is probable that taxable profits will be realized in the near future against which these
temporary differences can be offset.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unutilized tax losses, unutilized tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If
the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business
plans.

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

The Company applies the exception to recognizing and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and
liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes.

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

The Company has adopted Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(Amendments to IAS 12) from 1 January 2023. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences, for example
leases and decommissioning liabilities. An entity is required to recognize the associated deferred tax assets and
liabilities from the earliest of the earliest comparative period presented with any cumulative effect recognized as
an adjustment to retained earnings or other components of equity at that date. For all other transactions an
entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented.

The Company previously accounted for deferred tax on leases by applying the integrally linked approach,
resulting in a similar outcome as under the amendments, except that the deferred tax asset or liability was
recognized on a net basis. Following the amendments the Company has recognized a separate deferred tax asset
in relation to its lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets. However, there
was no impact on the statement of financial position because the balances qualify for offset under paragraph 74
of IAS 12. There was no impact on the opening retained earnings as at 1January 2022 as a result of the change.
The key impact for the Company relates to the disclosure of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized (see
note 16. Tax assets and liabilities).

Value added tax (VAT)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except

- where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax authorities, in
which case the VAT is recognized as part of the costs of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item as applicable; and

- trade receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authorities is included as part of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

RIAM is for VAT part of the Dutch fiscal unity of Robeco Nederland B.V. All entities part of this VAT tax group are
jointly and severally responsible for the resulting tax liability.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognized at acquisition, which includes all costs and expenses directly
related to the assets acquired until they are ready for use, less accumulated depreciation and any recognized
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accumulated impairment losses. If an indication of impairment exists, the assets are impaired to their
recoverable amount and the impairment is reflected in the income statement in the period in which it arises.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in
profit or loss. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

The useful life and depreciation rate for the owned assets are set out in the table below.

Category of property, plant and equipment Useful life (in years)
Office alterations 10 years
Furniture and IT hardware 3-5 years
Leases
As a lessee

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Company, as a lessee, applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Company. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of
the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost comprising the following:
9 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,
1 anylease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received,
9 anyinitial direct costs, and
I restoration costs.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the
end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase
option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which
is determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date. These lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate (IBR) is used. The Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate for discounting the future lease payments. ORIX Corporation Europe provides
quarterly an IBR calculation tool for its subsidiaries after they have reassessed incremental borrowing rates. The
rates included in this quarterly publication are mandatory.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

- Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

- Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

- The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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The lease liability is measured at amortized cost under the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the
Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Company
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a
revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to nil.

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of
office equipment that are low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-
financial assets (other than deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment, at
each reporting date. If such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in
use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Reversal of a previously recognized impairment loss only takes place when there is a change in the assessment
used to determine the recoverable amount since the recognition of the last impairment loss. In such case, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount, but not higher than the carrying amount
that would have applied if no impairment loss had been recognized in previous years for the asset.

Intangible assets

Intangibles consist of other intangible assets. In accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, the Company
reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than deferred tax assets) to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment, at each reporting date. If such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses
determined individually for each asset.

The useful lives of other intangible assets are finite and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, with amortization being charged to the income statement.

The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year-end.

The amortization period is 3 years.

Impairment testing of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,
then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

Forimpairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units
(CGUs).

The recoverable amount of a CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. An impairment
loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.
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For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no
impairment loss had been recognized.

Financial assets

Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a
portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to
management. The business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular-way
trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Initial recognition based on classification

Trade receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets are initially
recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost, fair value through OCI debt
instruments, fair value through OCl equity instruments, and/or fair value through profit or loss. The classification
of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Company'’s business model for managing them.

The Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss with the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are
initially measured at the transaction price.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the
first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

Subsequent measurement based on classification

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

- Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

- Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

- Financial assets designated at fair value through OCl with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (equity instruments)

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met and the

financial asset not is designated as at fair value through profit and loss:

- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR). The
amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses.

Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss.

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost include trade and other receivables and loans to related parties
included under ‘Other financial assets’.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
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of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified
at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be irrevocably
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces,
an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. Dividends on listed equity investments
are also recognized as ‘Other net finance income / expense’ in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognized (i.e. removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:
- the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
- the Company transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either:
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; or
the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it
does not retain control of the financial asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has
retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Company could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company applies the simplified approach and records lifetime expected losses for trade receivables and debt
instruments for as far these debt instruments are measured at amortized cost.

Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime expected credit losses (ECLs) at each reporting date. It is not expected that the ECL will be significant due
to the quality of the financial instruments, the guarantee nature of its receivables and the historical default rate
of its receivables.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Company'’s historical experience and informed credit assessment that includes forward-looking
information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Regarding cash and cash equivalents the Company considers that those have a low credit risk based on the
external ratings of the counterparties, credit rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of
‘investment grade’.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial asset.
12-months ECLs are the portion of the ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date or shorter period if the expected life of the financial asset is less than 12 months.
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The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Company is expected to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (the difference between the cash flows due in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt
instruments at fair value through OCl are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows on the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
9 Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
A breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that would not be considered
otherwise;

1

1

9 Itis probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
9 The disappearance of an active market for an instrument because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of position
Loan allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount
of the assets.
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Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, cash in hand and highly liquid investments in money market
mutual funds. Money market funds are carried at market value based on the reported net asset value per share
of the fund. Bank overdrafts are classified as current liabilities.

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments in money
market mutual funds as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Shareholder’s equity

Amounts contributed by the shareholder of the Company in excess of the nominal share capital, are accounted
for as share premium. This also includes additional capital contributions by existing shareholders without the
issue of shares or issue of rights to acquire or acquire shares of the Company.

Dividend for distribution is recognized as a liability in the period in which it is declared. Dividend declared after
the reporting date is not reflected in the ‘Statement of financial position’ for the reporting period.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, for
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a
finance cost.

A provision for claims, disputes and lawsuits is established when it is expected that the Company will be
sentenced in legal proceedings. The provision ‘possible loss of income’ represents the best estimate of the
amount for which the claim can be settled, including the costs of litigation. The other provisions are carried at
the nominal value of the expenditure that is expected to be necessary in order to settle the obligation, unless
stated otherwise.

Employee benefits

In addition to fixed annual income, all employees have a variable income component. This depends on the
realization of predetermined targets. The job profile of the employees concerned determines the range set for
the variable income percentage. In general, if the awarded amount of variable income exceeds a threshold, it is
partially paid out over several years.

The Company has a Long-term Incentive Plan for employees. This plan is a cash appreciation rights (R-CARs) plan
to which certain employees are eligible. The value of R-CARs is related to the Robeco Holding B.V. group’s value,
which is based on the operating result, conform the audited IFRS-EU financial statements, excluding any write-
off or amortization of goodwill related to acquisitions.

R-CARs are vested according to a specific timetable or subject to pre-defined conditions, but generally they
mature between one and four years after being granted. Based on the fact that the R-CARs plan is a long-term
employee benefit plan, as bonuses are vested and paid more than one year following the period in which they
are earned, the projected unit credit method is applied for accounting purposes. The accrued cost is based on a
straight-line allocation of the total expected amount of the benefit over the vesting period. R-CARs are recognized
in the income statement after being granted to key employees. As per reporting date, the recognized liability
related to R-CARs is based on the latest estimate of future profits.

R-CARs that have been awarded, but have not yet vested, generate a yield in cash of 5% of the basic value per
year. Vested R-CARs do not generate any yield.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the
amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments, as appropriate.

Financial liabilities are measured initially at their fair value, netting their directly attributable transaction costs.
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and financial guarantee contracts.
Liabilities maturing in less than 12 months from the date of the statement of financial position are classified as
current, while those with longer maturity periods are classified as non-current.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below. After initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

The amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the income statement.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Trade
and other payables are expected by the Company to be settled within one year.

Related parties

Transactions with related parties are assumed when a relationship exists between the Company and a natural
person or entity that is affiliated with the Company. This includes, amongst others, the relationship between the
Company and its subsidiaries, shareholders, directors and key management personnel. Transactions are
transfers of resources, services or obligations, regardless of whether anything has been charged.

Subsequent events

Events that provide further information on the actual situation at the balance sheet date and that appear before
the financial statements are being prepared, are recognized in the financial statements.

Events that provide further information on the actual situation at the balance sheet date and that appear after
the financial statements have been prepared but before the adoption of the financial statements, are recognized
in the financial statements only if it is essential for the true and fair view.

Events that provide no information on the actual situation at the balance sheet date are not recognized in the
financial statements. When those events are relevant for the economic decisions of users of the financial
statements, the nature and the estimated financial effects of the events are disclosed in the financial statements.
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Notes to the income statement

1. Revenues

EUR x million 2024 2023
Management fees 624.1 595.8
Service fees 99.2 94.0
Performance fees 20.3 221
Subadvisory fees 24.1 19.1
Other asset management related fees - 7.2
Other 4.8 5.4
Total 772.5 743.6

The Company receives management fees and service fees for its asset management activities directly from funds
and mandates. Performance fees are fees receivable upon realization of predefined performance standards such
as the performance of a fund’s investments. In 2023 other asset management related fees related to retail
clients. The increase of management fees relates to higher average Assets under Management in 2024
compared with 2023. The decrease in other asset management related fees is caused by the transfer of Robeco’s
online distribution platform for investment services to Van Lanschot Kempen effected on 1July 2023. See note
12 Sale of business for further information.

Subadvisory fees and Other revenues are received from other Robeco Group companies.

Contract balances

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on payment terms of up to 30 days (see note 15.
Trade and other receivables). In 2024 and 2023 no provision was recognized for expected credit losses on trade
receivables due to the guaranteed nature of receivables and the default rate of those receivables.

No contract assets were recognized, as no significant upfront costs were incurred and no revenue was recognized
in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied in previous years, or (partially) satisfied in previous
periods.

No contract liabilities were recognized, as no significant upfront fees that relate to future services were received

from customers. Additionally, no revenue that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of
the period was recognized in the reporting period.

2. Distribution and subadvisory costs

EUR x million 2024 2023
Distribution costs 203.9 198.0
Subadvisory costs 85.3 95.4
Total 289.2 293.4

Distribution costs include trailer fees, one-off distribution expenses and transfer agency fees. Subadvisory costs
include advisory fees payable to related and third parties.

3. Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses consist of costs charged by other group companies in the amount of EUR 287.2 million
(2023: EUR 287.7 million) of which Robeco Nederland B.V. charges operating costs in the amount of EUR 250.8
million (2023: EUR 257.7 million). Charged operating cost relate to the management of investment funds and
mandates and related financial services. The cost allocation includes indirect organizational costs and direct
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business-related costs, which, amongst others, include costs for staff, information technology, marketing and
housing.

Domestic staff is made available to the Company through an intercompany service agreement. Robeco
Nederland B.V. is legally the employer of personnel, recharging related expenses to the Company. The charge
concerns 734 FTE's on average in 2024 (2023: 726 FTE's) direct and indirect personnel. These expenses also
include disbursements to other entities within Robeco Group. Robeco Nederland B.V. is a wholly owned (indirect)
subsidiary of ORIX Corporation Europe N.V., the domestic ultimate parent company of Robeco Institutional Asset
Management B.V.

Administrative expenses also include EUR 2.7 million (2023: EUR
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